OROVILLE FACILITIES ENTERPRISE RECREATION AREA UPGRADES FERC PROJECT NO. 2100



PUBLIC DRAFT CEQA INITIAL STUDY AND MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION

September 2024



State of California California Natural Resources Agency DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES Oroville Field Division This page intentionally left blank.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	INTR	ODUCTION	1-1
	1.1	Background	1-1
	1.2	Project Overview	1-1
	1.3	CEQA Environmental Review Process	1-2
	1.4	Document Organization	1-3
2.0	PRO.	IECT DESCRIPTION	2-1
	2.1	Project Location	2-1
	2.2	Project Purpose	2-1
	2.3	Project Components	
	2.4	Anticipated Regulatory Permits and Approvals	2-2
3.0	ENVI	RONMENTAL EVALUATION	3-1
	3.1	Aesthetics	3-1
	3.2	Agriculture and Forestry Resources	3-4
	3.3	Air Quality	3-7
	3.4	Biological Resources	3-11
	3.5	Cultural Resources	3-20
	3.6	Energy	3-27
	3.7	Geology and Soils	3-29
	3.8	Greenhouse Gas Emissions	3-35
	3.9	Hazards and Hazardous Materials	3-40
	3.10	Hydrology and Water Quality	3-43
	3.11	Land Use and Planning	3-48
	3.12	Mineral Resources	3-50
	3.13	Noise	3-51
	3.14	Population and Housing	3-55
	3.15	Public Services	3-56
	3.16	Recreation	3-59
	3.17	Transportation	3-61
	3.18	Tribal Cultural Resources	3-64
	3.19	Utilities and Service Systems	3-68
	3.20	Wildfire	3-71
	3.21	Mandatory Findings of Significance	3-74
4.0	LIST	OF PREPARERS	4-1
	4.1	California Department of Water Resources resource specialists	4-1
	4.2	Stantec Consulting Services Inc Resource Specialists	4-1
5.0	REFE	RENCES CITED	5-1
	5.1	References Cited – Section 1.0 Introduction	5-1
	5.2	References Cited – Section 2.0 Project Description	5-1
	5.3	References Cited – Section 3.0 Environmental Checklist and	
		Environmental Evaluation	5-1

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.2-1.	Project Overview	1-1
Table 3.3-1.	BCAQMD Construction and Operational Significance Thresholds .	3-8
Table 3.3-2.	Project Construction Emissions	3-8
Table 3.3-3.	Project Operational Emissions	3-9
Table 3.5-1	Studies within Project Site	3-21
Table 3.8-1.	Project Greenhouse Gases Construction Emissions	3-36
Table 3.8-2.	Project Greenhouse Gases Operational Emissions	3-36
Table 3.13-1.	Butte County Maximum Allowable Noise Exposure to Non	
	Transportation Sources	. 3-52
Table 3.13-2.	Estimated Construction Equipment Noise Levels	3-53

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.2-1.	Project Vicinity	2-2
Figure 2.3-1.	Project Features	2-4
Figure 2.3-2.	Location of Proposed New Boat Ramp and Parking Lot	2-5
Figure 2.3-3.	Location of Proposed Trail and Picnic Tables	2-6

LIST OF APPENDIXES

Appendix A. Special Status Species and Habitat Discussion Appendix B. CalEEMod Air Quality & Energy Modeling Data

COMMONLY USED TERMS, ACRONYMS & ABBREVIATIONS

AB	Assembly Bill
ADA	Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990
amsl	above mean sea level
AQP	Air Quality Plan
BCAQMD	Butte County Air Quality Management District
BCFD	Butte County Fire Department
BCSO	Butte County Sheriff's Office
CAL FIRE	California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection
CalEEMod	California Emissions Estimator Model
CAP	Climate Action Plan
CARB	California Air Resources Board
CCR	California Code of Regulations
CDC	California Department of Conservation
CDFW	California Department of Fish and Wildlife
CEQA	California Environmental Quality Act
CH4	methane
CHP	California Highway Patrol
CO2	carbon dioxide
CO2e	carbon dioxide equivalent
CRHR	California Register of Historic Resources
CWPP	Community Wildfire Prevention Plan
DPM	diesel particulate matter
DTSC	California Department of Toxic Substances Control
DWR	California Department of Water Resources
ESA	environmentally sensitive area
FERC	Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
IS/MND	Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration
N2O	nitrogen dioxide
NOx	nitrogen oxides
NRHP	National Register of Historic Places
O3	ozone

PM2.5	particulate matter 2.5 microns or less in diameter
PM10	particulate matter 10 microns or less in diameter
PRC	Public Resources Code
Project	Oroville Facilities Enterprise Recreation Area Upgrades
ROG	reactive organic gases
SB	Senate Bill
SMAQMD	Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District
SRA	State Recreation Area
State	State of California
SWPPP	Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan
U.S.	United States
VMT	vehicle miles traveled

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND

The California Department of Water Resources (DWR) proposes the Oroville Facilities Facilities Enterprise Recreation Area Upgrades (Project) that will extend the existing boat ramp, install a new restroom facility, conduct existing trail upgrades, update site accessibility, and add picnic tables. This Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) describes and evaluates the potential environmental impacts associated with the Project in accordance with the laws and rules governing the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) process contained in the CEQA statute (Public Resources Code [PRC] Section 21000, et seq.), the CEQA Guidelines (California Code of Regulations [CCR], Title 14, Section 15000, et seq.), published court decisions interpreting CEQA, and locally adopted CEQA procedures. Table 1.1-1 provides the CEQA Appendix G overview of the Project.

1.2 PROJECT OVERVIEW

Table 1.2-1 provides an overview of the Project in accordance with CEQA Guidelines Appendix G.

Item	Title	Details
1.	Project Title	Oroville Facilities Enterprise Recreation Area Upgrades
2./5.	Lead Agency/Project Sponsor's Name and Address	California Department of Water Resources 460 Glen Drive Oroville, California 95966
3.	Contact Person and Phone Number	Contact: Cassandra Evenson Phone: (530) 534-2411 Email: <u>Cassandra.Evenson@water.ca.gov</u>
4.	Project Location	The Project is located in Butte County, California, on the South Fork of Lake Oroville on the northeast slope of the existing Enterprise area within the Lake Oroville State Recreation Area (SRA), which is owned by the California Department of Water Resources and licensed by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC).
6./7.	General Plan Designation and Zoning	Butte County General Plan: Public Butte County Zoning: Public
8.	Description of Project	The Project involves the extension of the existing boat ramp and additional lower water ramp access, with a new parking area between the two. Additionally, the Project includes the expansion of existing restroom facilities and the addition of a trail for access to the new picnic area.

Table 1.2-1.Project Overview

ltem	Title	Details			
9.	Surrounding Land Uses and Setting	The Project is surrounded predominantly by rural and developed areas, including, but not limited to, a State Recreation Area, open space, the City of Oroville, unincorporated communities, and associated infrastructure, such as roads and highways, and electrical utility lines that traverse the area.			
10.	Other Public Agencies Whose Approvals Are Required (e.g., permits, financing approval, or participation agreement)	 FERC Project Number (No.) 2100 hydropower license recreation plan modification (completed) United States (U.S.) Army Corps of Engineers (Clean Water Act [CWA] Section 404 Regional General Permit) Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board (Programmatic 401 Certification issued) and potentially State Dredge and Fill Procedures approvals State Historic Preservation Officer – National Historic Preservation Act Section 106 Concurrence 			

1.3 CEQA ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW PROCESS

CEQA is the State of California's (State) environmental law that generally requires State and local government agencies to inform decision-makers and the public about the potential adverse environmental impacts of proposed projects, and to reduce those adverse environmental impacts to the extent feasible. The intent of CEQA is to foster good planning and to inform agencies and the public about environmental issues during the planning process.

DWR has prepared this IS/MND to evaluate the Project for potential environmental effects in compliance with CEQA. DWR is the Lead Agency under CEQA and, in accordance with PRC Section 21067, has the principal responsibility for approving and carrying out the Project.

Based on the analysis presented in Chapter 3.0 of this IS/MND, and the field surveys conducted in support of that analysis, DWR has concluded that the Project has the potential to result in impacts on certain resources. However, potentially significant impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level with the implementation of DWR's mitigation measures, as presented in Chapter 3.0. As such, when viewed in light of the whole record, substantial evidence supports DWR's determination that the Project would not have a significant effect on the environment (CEQA Guidelines Sections 15063[a] and 15070[a]). Under CEQA Guidelines Section 15382, a significant effect on the environment is defined as a substantial, or potentially substantial, adverse change in any of the physical conditions within the area affected by a project, including land, air, water, minerals, flora, fauna, ambient noise, and objects of historic or aesthetic significance.

Since mitigation measures would reduce all potentially significant impacts to less-thansignificant levels, an IS/MND has been deemed the appropriate CEQA disclosure document. Mitigation measures presented in this IS/MND will form the basis of DWR's Mitigation, Monitoring, and Reporting Program for the Project and future State permits, should they be required.

As the Lead Agency, DWR is also responsible for implementing and monitoring all components of the Project and maintaining documentation of compliance. A trustee agency is a public agency having jurisdiction by law over natural resources affected by a project that are held in trust for the people of the State. The RWQCB and CDFW, as trustee agencies, may use this CEQA document to issue a CWA Section 401 Water Quality Certification (WQC) or Lakebed Alteration Agreement (LSAA), respectively

The public and other local and State resource agencies will be given the opportunity to review and comment on this document during the 30-day public review period. Comments received during the 30-day review period will be considered by DWR prior to determining whether to adopt the IS/MND and approve the Project.

1.4 DOCUMENT ORGANIZATION

This IS/MND is organized as follows:

- **1.0 Introduction.** This chapter provides introductory information about the Project, the CEQA environmental review process, and document organization.
- **2.0 Project Description.** This chapter presents a detailed description of the Project, including its location, purpose, and components. This chapter also discusses Project construction and anticipated regulatory requirements.
- **3.0 Environmental Evaluation.** This chapter evaluates the Project's potential for substantial deviation from baseline conditions that would result in significant environmental impacts. Significant impacts are analyzed in accordance with the CEQA Guidelines.
- **4.0 List of Preparers.** This chapter includes a list of report preparers.
- **5.0 References Cited.** This chapter lists the references used in preparation of this IS/MND.

This page intentionally left blank.

2.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION

DWR is proposing new and upgraded facilities in the Enterprise area of the Lake Oroville SRA. Under the Project, DWR would: (1) extend the existing Enterprise Boat Ramp; (2) construct a new, nearby boat ramp; (3) add a new parking lot situated between the boat ramp and the new ramp and a new parking lot access road; (4) improve existing restroom facilities to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA); (5) add a new picnic area; (6) update an existing trail to connect to the new picnic area; and (7) implement cut, fill, borrow, and bank stabilization associated with Project construction.

This section describes the location, purpose, and components of the Project, including individual features of the Project and the activities, access, equipment, and schedule associated with Project construction. In addition, this section discusses recreation facilities operation and maintenance of the Project once constructed and anticipated need for regulatory permits.

2.1 PROJECT LOCATION

The Project site is located on the South Fork of Lake Oroville on the northeast slope of the existing Enterprise area within the Lake Oroville SRA (Figure 2.2-1) and within the *Forbestown, California* U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) 7.5-minute quadrangle. To access the Project site from the City of Oroville, head east on Highway 162, then east on Forbestown Road, and then north on Lumpkin Road. Next, turn west onto Enterprise Road and continue approximately 0.3 miles; the Enterprise Boat Ramp and Day Use Area are located at the end of Enterprise Road.

2.2 PROJECT PURPOSE

Lake Oroville is the second largest lake in the State and a vital recreation resource. With Lake Oroville's inclusion in the State Water Project, rainfall and water releases cause the lake's water levels to fluctuate throughout the year. The Enterprise Boat Ramp is the only direct access to the South Fork of Lake Oroville for motorized boats; currently, this boat ramp is accessible only when lake water elevations are above approximately 837 feet (255 meters) above mean sea level (amsl).

As such, the primary purpose of the Project – which would extend the existing Enterprise Boat Ramp and add a new ramp – is to provide recreationists and emergency services personnel direct and safe access to the South Fork of the lake for longer periods of time during the year as lake levels fluctuate. This access would be crucial particularly when water levels in Lake Oroville are lower – a condition exacerbated by drought conditions throughout California. As such, when lake elevations are between 837 feet (255 meters) amsl and 750 feet (229 meters) amsl, the primary use of the facility would change from shoreline access only to a boat launch facility.

The Project is also necessary to better facilitate vehicle access to the Enterprise area with a new parking lot and access road; improve existing restroom facilities to be ADA-compliant; and provide complementary recreational opportunities at Enterprise (e.g.,

picnicking and hiking). The addition of a hilltop picnic area would draw visitors to the upland areas (and not just the lakeside) for recreation, while the new trail would connect to the new picnic area.



Figure 2.2-1. Project Vicinity

2.3 PROJECT COMPONENTS

The following provides a more detailed discussion of each of the Project's proposed components, including Project features, Project construction, and operation and maintenance of the Project's recreation facilities.

2.3.1 <u>Project Features</u>

To improve access during drought years and extreme low water events, the three main project features will all be installed below the lake's high water mark of 900ft elevation.

2.3.1.1 Existing Enterprise Boat Ramp Extension

The existing Enterprise Boat Ramp is approximately 460 feet by 35 feet. Under the Project, the existing Enterprise Boat Ramp would be extended west and south of the lowest elevation of the ramp to better facilitate low-water access for boaters and emergency responders. The boat ramp extension would be approximately 70 feet by 35 feet and would include an additional fill skirt that may be a combination of dirt and rip rap for bank stabilization (Figure 2.3-1).

2.3.1.2 New Enterprise Boat Ramp

The existing Enterprise Boat Ramp is approximately 460 by 35 feet. The new boat ramp would be located between approximately 810 feet (247 meters) amsl and 750 feet (229 meters) amsl. It would be a two-lane, 40-foot-wide concrete ramp with three 70-foot-wide turning areas. Each lane would be 15 feet wide. The additional 10-foot-wide lane would be for a mobile floating dock that would move up and down the ramp with the water level to aid in boarding boats. The dock would be removed when water levels are deep enough for lake access from the new Enterprise Boat Ramp extension.

2.3.1.3 New Enterprise Parking Lot and Access Road

The new Enterprise Parking Lot would be located between the existing Enterprise Boat Ramp and the new boat ramp. The new parking lot would connect to the existing Enterprise Boat Ramp via a 24-foot-wide by 100-foot-long concrete access road. The construction of this road would include a bank cut on the east side and a fill area on the west side, with associated rip rap stabilization. The entrance to the new Enterprise Parking Lot would be at approximately 840 feet (256 meters) amsl and would extend to approximately 810 feet (247 meters) amsl, with enough room for approximately 13 parking spots (Figure 2.3-1 and Figure 2.3-2).





Source: California Department of Water Resources (photo taken April 19, 2022) **Figure 2.3-2.** Location of Proposed New Boat Ramp and Parking Lot

2.3.1.4 Ancillary Facility Upgrades

The ancillary facilities will all be installed above the lake level on and connected to the existing boat ramp parking lot. The Project entails the installation of a portable building (entry kiosk), the addition of a new restroom facility (vault toilet), upgrades to the user trail, slurry seal parking lot, restripe pavement markings, and the addition of a picnic tables (Figure 2.3-1).

The addition of the portable entry kiosk will include a concrete foundation as well as also placement of removable bollards to protect the kiosk. A utility pull box will be installed within the kiosk foundation with conduit installed via trench north from the foundation to the edge of pavement.

The Project would upgrade the existing, 17-foot by 50-foot restroom to a 30-foot by 50-foot facility that meets ADA accessibility requirements (i.e., an additional 650 square feet). This expansion would require excavation of the hillside behind the existing restroom facility, which could provide fill material for the boat ramp extension component of the Project, potentially reducing the height of the hill by up to 75 feet.

The existing trail upgrades would require minor grading and the addition of 50 feet for a trail base and stabilization. Once stabilized and upgraded, the trail would be approximately 600 feet long, and would provide safe access to the new picnic area that would be located on the hill to the southwest of the parking lot (Figure 2.3-3). Up to 10 picnic tables would be located on a 20-foot by 200-foot area graded with native material.

Upgrades to the existing trail and the addition of picnic tables will be developed primarily with the use of hand tools. Tree removal is not anticipated.

Other miscellaneous upgrades to the Enterprise facilities include restriping and reconfiguring parking space layout, installing new accessible parking signposts (2), installing a paved path from the kiosk to the new restroom, extend the existing handrail near the existing vault toilet, and replacing the concrete slab in the location of existing accessible parking near the existing vault toilet.



Source: California Department of Water Resources (photo taken June 11, 2024) Figure 2.3-3. Location of Proposed Trail and Picnic Tables

2.3.1.5 Associated Cut, Fill, Borrow, and Bank Stabilization

To construct the features that are below the high water level, where determined necessary, the fill slopes along the new parking lot, access road, and new boat ramp may have rock slope protection or rock rip rap. Two borrow sites within the Project area would be used to provide fill for the ramp. The borrow sites would be excavated to a depth of less than approximately 75 feet from original grade and would be blended into the surrounding topography. The total cut, fill, and borrow areas are shown in Figure 2.3-1.

2.3.2 Project Construction

The Project would be constructed at elevations ranging between approximately 990 feet (302 meters), down to approximately 750 feet (229 meters) amsl. The construction of the boat ramp extension, new boat ramp, parking lot and access road, and associated cut, fill, borrow, and bank stabilization activities would comprise an approximate 17-acre work area, mostly below 900 feet (274 meters) amsl, which is Lake Oroville's ordinary high water mark (OHWM). The restroom facility upgrades and construction of the new picnic area and trail connection would occur above 940 feet (287 meters) amsl. Excavation would include taking borrow material from a nearby hill potentially reducing hill height by 75 feet or less, and all other excavations would not exceed 30 feet in depth below existing ground level. The following describes the activities, access, equipment, and schedule associated with Project construction.

2.3.2.1 Construction Access and Staging

Access to the existing Enterprise Boat Ramp and Day Use Area parking lot would be via Enterprise Road. Staging would be in an approximate 1-acre corner of the existing paved boat ramp parking lot. Construction may proceed from the lower elevations in the lake and progress upwards towards the existing parking lot. In-water work activities are not anticipated for construction but may be needed for adjustments to the areas designed for rip rap placement.

2.3.3 **Project Equipment**

The anticipated construction equipment utilized for demolition, excavation, and construction includes, but is not limited to:

- Backhoe
- Bulldozer
- Cable winch
- Concrete truck

- Dump truck Excavator (tracked)
- Grader
- Pick-up truck
- Roller/compactor

2.3.4 Project Footprint Summary

The upland Project staging and access areas would be located on developed portions of the lake shore (i.e., existing access road and existing Enterprise parking lot). The work below the 900 ft elevation high water mark, including the existing boat ramp extension, the new boat ramp, the new access road, the new parking lot, and their associated cut/fill and sediment barrow sites footprints are depicted and quantified in Figure 2.3-1.

2.3.5 <u>Construction Schedule</u>

DWR anticipates that construction of the Project would require approximately five months. Construction of the entire Project would be dependent on the lake water level being below 730 feet (223 meters) amsl. As such, the Project may still be partially completed if the lake elevation was not conducive to a full build-out; and construction of

the remaining features would resume once the lake water level was again below 730 feet (223 meters) amsl. DWR estimates work could begin – pending permit approval, final design, funding, construction award, and lake levels below 730 feet (223 meters) amsl – on October 1, 2024. Given the number of variables, the start date (including year) is subject to change but is estimated to occur during the lowest lake levels.

2.3.6 **Operation and Maintenance**

2.3.6.1 Recreation Facilities Operation

The Project at completion would provide recreationists and emergency services personnel with direct and safe access to the South Fork of Lake Oroville for additional months of the year, including in drought years when water levels are extremely low. More specifically, as noted in Section 2.2, the new boat ramp would extend the operation of Enterprise as a boating facility as water levels fluctuate. In addition, while the restroom facilities would be improved to be ADA-compliant, overall restroom facility operation would remain unchanged.

2.3.6.2 Recreation Facilities Maintenance

Recreation facilities maintenance is primarily associated with regular upkeep (weekly during summer months and monthly during winter months) related to the restroom and picnic area facilities. These facilities would be inspected annually to verify bank stabilization and to ensure that concrete surfaces are sturdy. Stabilization or repaving would occur as needed. During operation of the boat ramp, the boarding dock would require regular maintenance due to the fluctuation of the water levels. Dock maintenance is based on the rate of change in water levels and would vary in frequency between daily to weekly.

2.4 ANTICIPATED REGULATORY PERMITS AND APPROVALS

The following permits will likely be required, as the Project is proposed to be constructed within a FERC boundary, and potentially within waters of the United States and waters of the State.

- FERC Project No. 2100 hydropower license recreation plan modification and associated National Environmental Protection Act compliance (completed)
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (CWA Section 404 Regional General Permit #2) (iin progress)
- State Historic Preservation Officer National Historic Preservation Act Section 106 Concurrence (in progress)
- Central Valley RWQCB Water Quality Certification (in progress)
- State Historic Preservation Officer National Historic Preservation Act Section 106 Concurrence (in progress)
- CDFW Lake and Streambed Alteration Agreement Application (in progress) .

3.0 ENVIRONMENTAL EVALUATION

3.1 AESTHETICS

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista?			x	
b) Substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and historic buildings within a State scenic highway?				x
c) In non-urbanized areas, would the project substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of public views of the site and its surroundings. (Public Views are those that are experienced from a publicly accessible vantage point). If the Project is in an urbanized area, the potential of the project to conflict with applicable zoning and other regulations governing scenic quality?			X	
d) Create a new source of substantial light or glare which would adversely affect day or nighttime views in the area?				x

3.1.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

A scenic vista is generally defined as a view of undisturbed natural lands exhibiting a unique or unusual feature that makes up an important or dominant portion of the viewshed. Scenic vistas may also be represented by a particular distant view that provides visual relief from less attractive views of nearby features. Other designated federal and State lands, as well as local open space or recreational areas, may also offer scenic vistas if they represent a valued aesthetic view within the surrounding landscape of nearby features.

Scenic resources in Butte County are shown on Figure COS-7 of the Butte County General Plan and include both land- and water-based scenic areas such as Table Mountain, Lake Oroville, and the Thermalito Afterbay (Butte County 2019). Lake Oroville is the only area in the General Plan that is described as having scenic vistas. Additionally, the County has designated several scenic highway zones (shown on Figure COS-9 of the General Plan), including portions of State Routes 70 and 162, and several county roads near Forbestown (Butte County 2019). The General Plan protects these resources through implementation of several goals and policies protecting resources (e.g., Goals COS-17 and COS-18) and zoning ordinance restrictions.

The Project would occur in an area with existing day use facilities, including an existing boat ramp, parking lot, and restroom facility. The quality of scenic views typically enjoyed by visitors to the Project site could be temporarily reduced during construction. Worker vehicles and maintenance equipment could temporarily obstruct views of the lake and surrounding area; however, the presence of these vehicles and equipment would be short-term, lasting a few days to weeks, and would not result in permanent adverse effects to the existing scenic resources in the area.

Once constructed, the boat ramp extension, new boat ramp, and new parking lot and access road would blend with the existing character of the day use area, which already provides a boat ramp and parking lot, and would not obstruct or otherwise substantially alter existing scenic views of Lake Oroville and the surrounding area. Project construction would result in the addition of 650 square feet to the restroom facility; however, the exterior façade would remain substantially similar to existing conditions. Although there would be a new picnic area and upgrades to the existing trail, these modifications, too, would be consistent with the existing character of the day use area. Moreover, with the new picnic area situated on a hilltop, the Project would provide visitors with additional access to expansive views of the lake and surrounding area. Therefore, the Project would not have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista and impacts would be less than significant.

b) Substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and historic buildings within a State scenic highway?

Finding: No Impact

The nearest State-designated scenic highway is State Route 70, which passes over the west branch of the Feather River north of the Project area. This roadway is listed as an eligible State scenic highway (Caltrans 2021). However, as shown on Figure 2.2-1, no maintenance or construction activities occur in this area. Therefore, the Project would not substantially damage scenic resources within a State scenic highway, and no impact would occur.

c) In non-urbanized areas, would the project substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of public views of the site and its surroundings. (Public Views are those that are experienced from a publicly accessible vantage point). If the Project is in an urbanized area, the potential of the project to conflict with applicable zoning and other regulations governing scenic quality?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project is located in a non-urbanized area associated with Lake Oroville. Nearby viewers would be limited to employees, recreational users, and other motorists passing through the area, all of whom would have temporary and limited public views of the Project area.

As discussed under question 'a' above, Project construction would involve short-term, temporary impacts to scenic views and the visual character of the Enterprise area. During Project operation, the boat ramp extension, new boat ramp, and new parking lot and access road would blend with the existing character of the day use area, and would not obstruct or otherwise substantially alter existing scenic views of Lake Oroville and the surrounding area. The visual character of the improved restroom facility would be substantially similar to existing conditions, and the new picnic area and trail modification would be consistent with the existing character of the day use area. Therefore, since the Project would not substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of public views of the site and its surroundings, impacts would be less than significant.

d) Create a new source of substantial light or glare which would adversely affect day or nighttime views in the area?

Finding: No Impact

Construction activities would occur between the daytime hours of 7:00 AM and sunset during the weekdays, and if needed, between 8:00 AM and 6:00 PM on Saturdays. No nighttime work is anticipated. Additionally, the Project does not include the construction of any new structures that would introduce new lighting or glare to the Project area. Thus, no impact would occur.

3.1.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.2 AGRICULTURE AND FORESTRY RESOURCES

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporation	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the California Resources Agency, to non- agricultural use?				x
b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use or a Williamson Act contract?				x
c) Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, forestland (as defined in Public Resources Code section 12220(g)), timberland (as defined by Public Resources Code section 4526), or timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by Government Code section 51104(g))?				x
d) Result in the loss of forestland or conversion of forestland to non-forest use?				x
e) Involve other changes in the existing environment which, due to their location or nature, could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use or conversion of forestland to non-forest use?				x

3.2.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use?

Finding: No Impact

As part of its nationwide Land Inventory and Monitoring (LIM) system, the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service developed definitions for Prime Farmland, Farmland of Statewide Importance, Unique Farmland, Farmland of Local Importance, and Urban Built-up Land. These LIM definitions have been modified for use in California. The most significant modification is that Prime Farmland and Farmland of Statewide Importance must be irrigated. Farmland of Local Importance has been identified by local advisory committees and varies from county to county, as intended by the LIM. Mapping of Grazing Land as part of an Important Farmland Map is unique to California (DOC 2023a).

The Project would not convert any Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance to non-agricultural use. The areas within and surrounding the Project are classified as Other Land in the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program (FMMP) (DOC 2023b) and do not contain farmland. The Project would not convert any farmland to non-agricultural uses as designated by the FMMP. Therefore, the Project would have no impact on State-designated farmland.

b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use or a Williamson Act contract?

Finding: No Impact

The California Land Conservation Act of 1965 (Williamson Act) enables private landowners to contract with counties and cities to voluntarily restrict their land to agricultural and compatible open-space uses. In return for this guarantee by landowners, taxes are assessed based on the agricultural value of the land rather than the market value, which typically results in a substantial reduction in property taxes.

The Project area is not zoned for agricultural use; therefore, no conflicts with agricultural zoning would occur. In addition, the Project area is not classified as farmland by the FMMP (DOC 2023b) and there are no properties registered under the Williamson Act (Butte County 2015). Therefore, the Project would not impact or change agricultural uses, nor impact existing zoning for agriculture use or Williamson Act contract lands.

c) Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, forestland (as defined in Public Resources Code section 12220[g]), timberland (as defined by Public Resources Code section 4526), or timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by Government Code section 51104[g])?

Finding: No Impact

The Project area consists of disturbed areas and oak woodlands. The Project area is zoned Public (P) (Butte County 2023). Hazard trees in the upland portion of the Project near the existing trail and proposed picnic area that sustained burn damage during the 2020 North Complex fire would be removed. However, since the Project area is not located on land zoned as forest or timberland, the Project would not conflict with existing zoning for forestry or timberland resources. Thus, there would be no impact to forestland or timberland.

d) Result in the loss of forestland or conversion of forestland to non-forest use?

Finding: No Impact

The Project area is zoned as Public (P) (Butte County 2023). As noted under question 'c' above, hazard trees in the upland portion of the Project that sustained burn damage during the 2020 North Complex fire would be removed. This removal would not result in the loss of forestland or conversion of forestland and, therefore, no impact would occur.

e) Involve other changes in the existing environment which, due to their location or nature, could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use or conversion of forestland to non-forest use?

Finding: No Impact

The Project area is zoned as Public (P) (Butte County 2023). Furthermore, the Project area is not classified as farmland by the FMMP (DOC 2023b). Rather, the Project is located at an existing recreational facility that is currently disturbed with day uses and associated infrastructure. The Project is the expansion and improvement of those day use facilities and would not result in conversion of farmland to non-agricultural use or conversion of forestland to non-forest use. As such, there would be no impact.

3.2.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.3 AIR QUALITY

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan?			x	
b) Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the Project region is non- attainment under an applicable Federal or State ambient air quality standard?			x	
c) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations?			x	
d) Result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a substantial number of people?			х	

3.3.1 <u>Environmental Impact Analysis</u>

a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project is located within the jurisdiction of the Butte County Air Quality Management District (BCAQMD). Growth assumptions (and associated emission projections) within the BCAQMD are included in the Sacramento Valley Planning Area 2015 Triennial Air Quality Attainment Plan (AQP) (BCAQMD 2014). Generally, a project would be deemed inconsistent with an air quality plan if it would result in or induce growth in population, employment, land use, or regional vehicle miles traveled (VMT) that is inconsistent with the growth assumption in the AQP.

According to the Butte County General Plan, the Project site is designated for public land uses that allow for recreational facilities. As discussed in Chapter 2.0, Project components would also be associated with recreational uses. As such, the Project would be consistent with the General Plan and growth projections in the AQP (Butte County 2019). Moreover, as shown below in the response to question 'b,' the criteria air pollutant emissions are far below BCAQMD thresholds. Therefore, the Project would not conflict or obstruct implementation of the applicable AQP, and the impact would be less than significant.

b) Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the Project region is non-attainment under an applicable Federal or State ambient air quality standard?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The BCAQMD has identified project-level air quality significance thresholds for criteria air pollutants for which the region is in non-attainment (Table 3.3-1). Criteria air pollutants include ozone (O₃), nitrogen dioxide, carbon monoxide, sulfur dioxide, particulate matter 2.5 microns or less in diameter (PM_{2.5}), particulate matter 10 microns or less in diameter (PM₁₀), and lead. Reactive organic gases (ROG) and nitrogen oxides (NOx) are considered criteria air pollutants, but these pollutants are widely emitted from new development and are known as precursors to O₃. As such, ROG and NOx emissions are considered in the basin.

Pollutant	Construction Thresholds Daily	Construction Thresholds Annual	Operational Thresholds (Daily)	
Reactive organic gases	137 pounds/day	4.5 tons/year	25 pounds/day	
Nitrous oxides	137 pounds/day	4.5 tons/year	25 pounds/day	
Particulate matter 10 microns diameter or less	80 pounds/day	_	80 pounds/day	

Table 3.3-1.	BCAQMD Construction	and Operational	Significance	Thresholds
--------------	----------------------------	-----------------	--------------	------------

Source: BCAQMD 2014

According to the BCAQMD, projects that do not exceed the significance thresholds would not have a cumulatively considerable net increase for any criteria air pollutant for which the region is in non-attainment (BCAQMD 2014). The BCAQMD is currently in non-attainment for State and federal ozone and State PM₁₀ standards (BCAQMD 2018).

The BCAQMD recommends using the California Emissions Estimator Model (CalEEMod) to calculate project emissions of criteria air pollutants. Emission estimates were prepared in CalEEMod version 2020.4.0 for Project construction and operation and are provided below in Tables 3.3-2 and Tables 3.3-3, respectively.

Table 3.3-2. Project Construction Emissions

Scenario	Reactive Organic Gases	Nitrous Oxides	Particulate Matter 10 Microns Diameter or Less
2023 Daily Maximum Emissions (pounds/day)	3.16	34.79	2.74
Daily Thresholds (pounds/day)	137	137	80
Exceed?	No	No	No

Scenario	Reactive Organic Gases	Nitrous Oxides	Particulate Matter 10 Microns Diameter or Less
2023 Annual Emissions (tons/year)	0.16	1.67	0.10
Annual Thresholds (tons/year)	4.5	4.5	-
Exceed?	No	No	No

Table 3.3-3. Project Operational Emissions

Scenario	Reactive Organic Gases	Nitrous Oxides	Particulate Matter 10 Microns Or Less In Diameter
2023 Daily Maximum Emissions (pounds/day)	0.13	0.01	0.01
Daily Thresholds (pounds/day)	25	25	80
Exceed?	Νο	Νο	Νο

3.3.1.1 Construction Emissions

Construction emissions would be generated from off-road construction equipment and mobile-source emissions from employee, vendor, and hauling trips. Construction is anticipated to take place over a period of five months. Anticipated construction equipment is included in Section 2.3.2.2. Construction vehicle trip and trip distance estimates are based on modeling defaults for Butte County. As shown in Table 3.3-2, construction emissions would be below BCAQMD daily and annual construction emission thresholds and, as a result, would not result in a cumulatively significant impact.

3.3.1.2 Operational Emissions

Operational emissions would be substantially similar to existing conditions, and would be generated from mobile sources (i.e., worker and visitor vehicle trips to and from the Enterprise area). Regular maintenance of the picnic area and trail is expected to occur weekly in the summer and monthly in the winter. Maintenance of the boat ramps would occur daily or weekly. Maintenance activities and frequency would be similar to existing conditions.

The extended boating access infrastructure improvements and 10 new picnic tables may result in the addition of some new recreationists to the Enterprise area during the year; however, these upgrades are not anticipated to substantially increase the number of visitors (i.e., personal vehicles) beyond current conditions. As shown in Table 3.3-3, operational emissions would be below BCAQMD daily and annual construction emission thresholds and, therefore, would not result in a cumulatively significant impact.

c) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Some land uses are considered more sensitive to air pollution than others due to the types of population groups or activities associated with those land uses. Sensitive population groups include children, the elderly, the acutely ill, and chronically ill, especially those with cardiovascular diseases. Examples of sensitive receptors include hospitals, residences, convalescent facilities, and schools (EPA 2022). The nearest sensitive receptor is located approximately 0.1 miles northeast of the Project site.

During construction, operation of off-road equipment and diesel-powered vehicle trips would generate diesel particulate matter (DPM), a type of toxic air contaminant. However, equipment is not anticipated to be running continuously, Project construction would be short-term in nature, and construction-related DPM emissions would cease once construction ended. Therefore, existing receptors would not be exposed to DPM emissions from construction for an extended period of time.

Project operation would be similar to existing conditions. Trips to the Enterprise area from visitors and maintenance workers would likely continue to take place in passenger vehicles, which are generally battery- or gasoline-powered and do not produce DPM. Therefore, the Project would not expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations and the impact would be less than significant.

d) Result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a substantial number of people?

Finding: Less than Significant Impact

Odor impacts from Project development could result from either the release of new sources of odor near existing receptors or the movement of new receptors near existing odor sources. Neither construction of the Project nor regular maintenance activities during Project operation would result in the emission of substantial odor sources, such as commercial cooking equipment, combustion or evaporation of fuels, sewer systems, or solvents and surface coatings. Odor created by the Project would be limited to diesel exhaust odors from the use of machinery potentially used for Project maintenance. These odors would be localized, temporary in nature and, with increasing distance, would dissipate rapidly from the area. Given the above, construction- and maintenance-related odor impacts would be less than significant.

3.3.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.4 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any species in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?		x		
b) Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural community identified in local or regional plans, policies, and regulations, or by the California Department of Fish or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?			x	
c) Have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally protected wetlands (including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other means?		x		
d) Interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites?			x	
e) Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a tree preservation policy or ordinance?				x
f) Conflict with the provisions of an adopted habitat conservation plan, natural community conservation plan, or other approved local, regional, or State habitat conservation plan?				x

3.4.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any species in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations,

or by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?

Finding: Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated

Species listed in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or regulated by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), are called special-status species. The special-status species with the potential to be impacted by the Project were identified through desktop queries of the CDFW California Natural Diversity Database, The CDFW Biogeographic Information and Observation System Viewer Version 6.24.0501 USFWS Information for Planning and Consultation, California Native Plant Society lists and/or databases, and aerial photographs. The queries were further refined through research and reconnaissance-level biological field surveys, discussed below.

According to the database search results, occurrence records or potential of occurrence for 16 special status plant species, 6 wildlife species, and nesting raptors and migratory birds were identified within 2 miles of the Project area (USFWS 2024) or within the *Oroville Dam* and *Forbestown, California* 7.5-minute USGS quadrangles (CDFW 2024; CNPS 2024). The results of these occurrence records are provided in Appendix A. In addition to presenting the results of the desktop query mentioned above, Appendix A identifies the potential for each special status plant and wildlife species to occur within the Project area as none, low, moderate, or high. The potential to occur is based on the proximity to previous occurrences as reported in the database search results, existing vegetation communities and habitats, topography and elevation, soils, surrounding land uses, and habitat suitability observed at the Project site.

In April and October 2022, with site review updates in 2024, a DWR biologist conducted reconnaissance-level biological field surveys within the Project area. Data collection was focused on verifying and evaluating existing habitat data for special-status species within the Project area to determine the potential for special-status species, their suitable habitat, or other sensitive habitats known to occur within the Project vicinity. The study area included the proposed construction footprint, access, staging and laydown areas, and areas immediately adjacent that have the potential to be impacted by the Project (Figure 2.3-1).

Of the 16 special-status plant species and 6 special-status wildlife species identified in Appendix A, all special-status species, with the exception of nesting raptors and other migratory birds, were found to have either a low or no potential to occur within the Project area. Therefore, these species were eliminated from further analysis and discussion. Potential impacts to special-status plant and wildlife species, as well as nesting birds, are discussed and analyzed below.

Impacts to Special-Status Plant Species

Sixteen special status plant species were identified within the *Oroville Dam* and *Forbestown, California* 7.5-minute USGS quadrangles (CDFW 2024, CNPS 2024).

However, based on the existing vegetation communities and habitats, topography and elevation, soils, surrounding land uses, field survey results, and habitat suitability observed at the Project site, there is no potential for special-status plant species to occur within the Enterprise area. Therefore, no mitigation for special-status plant species is required.

Impacts to Special-Status Wildlife Species

Six special status wildlife species were identified within two miles of the Project area and/or the *Oroville Dam* and *Forbestown, California* 7.5-minute USGS quadrangles (CDFW 2024, USFWS 2024). However, based on the species' known ranges, topography and elevation, field survey results, and habitat suitability observed at the Project site, there is either a low or no potential for special-status wildlife species to occur within the Enterprise area, with the exception of nesting migratory birds. Impacts to nesting birds are discussed below.

Nesting Migratory Birds and Raptors

Federal Status: Migratory Bird Treaty Act; State Status: California Fish and Game Code Sections 3503, 3503.5, and 3800; Potential to Occur: High

Impacts to all native and migratory birds are protected under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) and California Fish and Game Code (FGC) Sections 3503, 3503.5, and 3800. Suitable habitat for native and nesting birds exists within the Enterprise area, including habitats that may support species that nest in tree branches or cavities, in shrubs or undergrowth, on the ground, in burrows, or on human-made structures, including buildings, bridges, utility poles, and boat ramps. Common native and/or migratory bird species that have the potential to nest and forage within the Enterprise area may include ground-nesting species such as killdeer (*Charadrius vociferus*), shrub or grassland nesting birds such as bushtit (*Psaltriparus minimus*), tree nesters like the California scrub-jay (*Aphelocoma californica*), and species that often nest on human-made structures like barn swallow (*Hirundo rustica*).

Project construction would begin outside the typical nesting season for birds in the region (approximately February 15 through August 31), and any impacts from Project activities would be incidental. The temporary disturbance caused by the construction of the Project, if continued through the beginning and into the nesting season, could have the potential to cause direct and indirect impacts, including nest abandonment and nest failure, which would be considered a significant impact. However, with the implementation of Mitigation Measure (MM) BIO-1, Pre-Construction Nesting Bird Surveys and Pre-Construction Environmental Awareness Training, impacts to nesting birds would be less than significant.

b) Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural community identified in local or regional plans, policies, and regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

According to local and regional plans, policies, and regulations, and CDFW and USFWS databases, the Enterprise area does not contain any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural communities. As noted in Section 2.3.2.1, construction of the boat ramp extension, new boat ramp, parking lot and access road, and associated cut, fill, borrow, and bank stabilization activities would occur in an approximate 17-acre work area, primarily located below Lake Oroville's OHWM, and while the Project will require borrow material taken from a nearby hill potentially reducing its height as much as 75 feet, no other excavation would exceed 30 feet in depth below existing ground level.

Within the lake's fluctuation zone located below the existing Enterprise Boat Ramp, vegetation consists mainly of ruderal species, including many annual forbs and grasses. The most dominant species are sky lupine (*Lupinus nanus*) and several clover species (*Acmispon* sp. and *Triflolium* sp.). Additionally, there are some scattered black willows (*Salix goodingii*) located above 800 feet (244 meters) amsl. Project construction may proceed from the lower elevations in the lake and progress upwards towards the existing parking lot; however, no in-water construction activities would occur except for possible placement of riprap at the toe of the boat ramp. Construction would be limited to areas outside of riparian habitats or other sensitive habitats; therefore, impacts would be less than significant.

c) Have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally protected wetlands (including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other means?

Finding: Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated

Wetlands and waterways are protected from the placement of dredge and fill material under CWA Section 404 and California State Dredge and Fill Procedures. The wetland boundary or stream OHWM typically marks the outer edge of such sensitive habitats. As noted above, Project construction of the boat ramp extension, new boat ramp, parking lot and access road, and associated cut, fill, borrow, and bank stabilization activities would occur below Lake Oroville's OHWM. Although no in-water construction activities are anticipated to occurwith the possible exception of riprap at the toe of the boat ramp, placement of the fill and work below the OWHM would likely require the following permits for Project work within the FERC boundary and within waters of the United States and waters of the State: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) CWA Section 404 Regional General Permit #2 and Central Valley RWQCB CWA Section 401 WQC.

DWR would implement MM BIO-2, Water Quality Protections and Compensation for Direct Impacts to Waters of the U.S, and MM GEO-1, Sedimentation and Erosion Control Measures (described in Section 3.7), which would reduce potential impacts to areas below the OHWM to a less-than-significant level. DWR also would implement standard erosion and sediment control best management practices (BMP) during construction to further reduce potential impacts associated with Project construction. These BMPs may include, but are not limited to, silt fencing, straw waddles, and covering spoil piles, among other standard practices.

d) Interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Wildlife movement corridors have been recognized by USFWS and CDFW as important habitats worthy of conservation. Wildlife corridors provide seasonal migration channels (i.e., between winter and summer habitats); provide non-migratory wildlife with the opportunity to move within their home range for food, cover, and reproduction; and allow for dispersal of individuals to colonize new areas (CDFW 2023; USFWS 2023).

The Project is located largely below the OHWM of Lake Oroville, where there is limited suitable habitat available. In addition, construction of the Project would be temporary. As such, it is unlikely that the Project would interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species, or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors. In addition, the construction and operation of the Project would not impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites, as no such sites exist in the Enterprise area. Therefore, Project construction and operation would result in a less than significant impact.

e) Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a tree preservation policy or ordinance?

Finding: No Impact

Project construction would require excavation of the hillside behind the existing restroom facilities, minor grading, the addition of a trail base, and stabilization for the trail upgrades. The picnic area, which will include up to 10 picnic tables, would be located on a 20-foot by 200-foot area graded with native material.

Th upland area within the Project is within the boundary of the 2020 North Complex fire. In these areas, vegetation consists mainly of annual forbs, shrub species, and trees. The most dominant species present are toyon (*Heteromeles arbutifolia*) and oak species (*Quercus* sp.). Tree species include madrone (*Arbutus menziesii*), ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*), California black oak (*Quercus kelloggii*), and interior live oak (*Quercus wislizeni* var. *wislizeni*). The Project has been designed to avoid the removal of trees, with the exception of dead trees posing hazards to the public. The trees are predominately under 12 inches at diameter breast height and would be removed for safety purposes in the proposed picnic area and adjacent to the connecting trail. Stumps would be left in place. As such, since the Project would not conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a tree preservation policy or ordinance, no impact would occur.

f) Conflict with the provisions of an adopted habitat conservation plan, natural community conservation plan, or other approved local, regional, or State habitat conservation plan?

Finding: No Impact

The Project would not conflict with any current habitat or natural community conservation plan, including the Butte Regional Conservation Plan (BRCP), which is both a federal Habitat Conservation Plan and a State Natural Community Conservation Plan; the Open Space Element of the Butte County General Plan; or any other approved local, regional, or State habitat conservation plan. The BRCP, which Butte County helped develop, aims to provide a more efficient, consistent, and effective alternative to mitigation planning and permitting on a project-by-project basis by offering a more streamlined process for the mitigation of biological resources impacts. The BRCP covers approximately 564,270 acres, primarily within western Butte County, including 14 plant species and 27 wildlife species, as well as various natural communities (Butte County Association of Governments 2019).

Species highlighted within the BRCP that have potential to occur within 2 miles of the Enterprise area and/or within the *Oroville Dam* and *Forbestown, California* USGS 7.5-minute quadrangles were evaluated and were assigned a level of potential to occur (refer to Appendix A, Table A-2). All species were determined to have either a low or no potential to occur in the Enterprise area. These species and their associated habitats were excluded from further analysis, because they would not be impacted as a result of Project implementation. Given the above, the Project would have no impact.

3.4.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

The following Mitigation Measures would be implemented in conjunction with any Project activities that have the potential to impact biological resources, as described above and summarized in Appendix A.

3.4.2.1 MM BIO-1: Pre-Construction Nesting Bird Surveys and Pre-Construction Environmental Awareness Training

DWR shall implement one of the following measures, depending on the specific construction timeframe, in order to avoid disturbing nests protected by the MBTA and FGC 3502:

- If construction activities are scheduled to occur during the nesting season (approximately February 15 through August 31) in locations with potentially active nests as defined by DWR biologists, a qualified environmental scientist shall conduct the following environmental awareness training and survey for nesting birds:
 - a. Project personnel shall receive environmental awareness training facilitated by a qualified environmental scientist. The training shall include instruction on how to recognize nesting bird behavior and their nests. The training shall cover relevant BMPs, avoidance and minimization measures, mitigation,

regulations, and the proper procedure(s) to follow in the event that an active bird nest is encountered within the Enterprise area. If a nesting bird is encountered in the work area, construction shall cease, and a qualified environmental scientist shall be notified for guidance before any construction activities are resumed.

- b. Pre-construction surveys shall be conducted within the Project area to identify potential nesting habitat within approximately 100 feet of planned work areas. Surveys shall be conducted within one week before initiation of construction activities at any time between February 15 and August 31. If no active nests are detected, no mitigation is required, and construction and maintenance activities may proceed; or
- c. If surveys indicate that migratory bird or other protected nests are found in any areas that would be directly affected by Project activities, a nondisturbance buffer shall be established around the site to avoid disturbance or destruction of the nest site until after the breeding season or after a qualified environmental scientist determines that the young have fledged (typically late June to mid-July). The extent of these buffers shall be determined by a qualified environmental scientist and shall depend on the species present, the level of noise or construction disturbance, line of sight between the nest and the disturbance, ambient levels of noise or other disturbances, and other topographical or artificial barriers.

If construction or maintenance activities begin outside the migratory bird breeding season (approximately September 1 through February 14), the activities may proceed until it is determined that an active migratory bird or other protected nest would be subject to abandonment as a result of Project activities. Optimally, all necessary vegetation removal shall be conducted before the breeding season so that nesting birds would not be present in the work area during construction. If any bird nests are in the work area under pre-existing construction conditions, then it is assumed that they are habituated (or will habituate) to the Project activities. Under this scenario, the preconstruction survey described previously should still be conducted on or after February 15 to identify any active nests in the vicinity. Active sites should be monitored by a qualified environmental scientist periodically until after the breeding season or after the young have fledged. If active nests are identified on or immediately adjacent to the work area, then all non-essential construction activities should be avoided in the immediate vicinity of the nest site.

Mitigation Measure BIO-1 Implementation

- **Responsible Party:** DWR shall have a qualified environmental scientist conduct the environmental awareness training and any pre-construction nesting surveys.
- **Timing:** The training shall occur once prior to the initiation of construction activities. One nesting survey shall be conducted by a qualified environmental scientist within one week of initiating proposed construction activities, if the work

begins between February 15 and August 31 and is located in an area with potential nesting habitat, per the determination of the qualified environmental scientist.

- **Monitoring and Reporting Program:** The training and survey shall be conducted by a qualified environmental scientist, and a brief technical memorandum documenting the training and survey results shall be kept on file with DWR.
- **Standards for Success:** Project personnel are trained in the key characteristics for identifying and avoiding impacts to nesting birds, which will lead to the minimization of bird nests being disturbed from Project activities.

3.4.2.2 MM BIO-2: Water Quality Protections and Compensation for Direct Impacts to Waters of the U.S.

In water work will be avoided to the extent feasible and likely only necessary for rip rap placement at the toe of the boat ramp, if at all. Placement of the fill and work below the OWHM when water levels are low will require the following permits for Project work within the FERC boundary and within waters of the United States and waters of the State: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) CWA Section 404 Regional General Permit #2 and Central Valley RWQCB CWA Section 401 WQC.

Thus, DWR will apply for and obtain a CWA Section 404 Regional General Permit #2 and comply with the current USACE compensation schedule for any loss of waters of the U.S. DWR will work with the USACE to ensure that the local and federal "no net loss" of wetlands is properly upheld. For all activities that trigger the USACE CWA 404 permit, DWR will also apply for, obtain and comply with a CWA Section 401 WQC from the Central Valley RWQCB. This will at a minimum include water quality monitoring for in-water work to inform stop work actions and avoid spikes in turbidity above that allowed for in the Water Quality Certification. Additionally, DWR commits to compensation as required for dredge and fill impacts below the OHWM.

Mitigation Measure BIO-2 Implementation

- **Responsible Party:** DWR is responsible for applying for all permits and approvals needed to deposit fill in wetlands, and for work in waters of the U.S. and waters of the State.
- **Timing:** The CWA Section 404, and CWA 401 Permits will be obtained prior to construction.
- **Monitoring and Reporting Program:** DWR will obtain environmental permits prior to construction and will pay appropriate fees to comply with the regulatory agency compensatory mitigation schedule for temporary and permanent impacts to waters of the U.S. DWR will prepare a brief letter report on compliance with this Mitigation Measure and submit it to the Central Valley RWQCB for their files.
• **Standards for Success:** Appropriate State and federal permit compliance and compensation, including no net loss of waters of the U.S. resulting from Project implementation. Water Quality protections and monitoring will be in place and water quality standards in the project specific Water Quality Certification will not be exceeded.

3.5 CULTURAL RESOURCES

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource pursuant to Section 15064.5?		x		
b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource pursuant to Section 15064.5?		x		
c) Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries?		x		

A cultural resources study was conducted to inform baseline conditions for cultural resources at the Project site. To identify cultural resources within the Project Site, the following tasks were completed: [1] A records search and literature review were conducted at the California Historic Resources Information System at the Northeast Information Center (NEIC), located at California State University, Chico; [2] Archival research consisting of a review of historic maps and aerial photographs to assess the potential for buried historic-period archaeological deposits; [3] an archaeological buried sensitivity analysis to assess the potential for buried prehistoric resources; [4] Pedestrian surveys of the Project site, completed in 2017 and 2022 by a qualified archaeologist

Records Search and Literature Review

On November 17, 2022, Stantec conducted a records search of pertinent cultural resources information curated by the California Historical Resources Information System at the NEIC. The search (File No. D22-406) included the Project Site and a distance of up to approximately 0.25 miles from its boundaries. The record search included the following: NRHP, California Register of Historical Resources (CRHR), California Historical Landmarks Listing, and California Point of Historical Interest.

No resources within the Project site were found to be listed on the NRHP, the CRHR, the California Historical Landmarks Listing, or the California Points of Historical Interest. Two close historic properties included in the California Historical Landmarks Listing (Bidwell's Bar No. 330 and Old Suspension Bridge No. 314) were found during the record search. However, both resources are located more than 1.5 miles from the Project site

The results of the record search indicate that no known cultural resources are present within the Project Site. Six known resources are located adjacent to the Project site, and 21 known resources are present within 0.25 miles of the Project Site. Results of the

records search indicate that two previous cultural resource investigations have been conducted within the Project Site (Table 3.5-1, below). In addition to the NEIC record search, previous work conducted by the Anthropology Studies Center at Sonoma State for DWR was also reviewed.

Report Number	Title	Date	Author
NEIC-6868	Oroville Facilities Relicensing Project Cultural Resources Inventory FERC Project No. 2100.	2003	Anthropological Studies Center (Sonoma State University)
NEIC-10351	The Archaeological Resources of Seven Reservoir Areas in Central and Northern California.	1952	Treganza, Adan

 Table 3.5-1
 Studies within Project Site

Archival Research

Stantec reviewed archival maps and aerial photographs to determine the presence of historic-period buildings and/or structures within the Project site and to assess the potential for historic-period archaeological deposits. Enterprise Road appears on the earliest maps (c. 1888) though the Project Site and is labeled as a secondary highway in 1948. Otherwise, there is no historical development within the Project Site. Therefore, it is unlikely that any historic-period archaeological deposits are located within the Project Site.

Archaeological Buried Sensitivity

A geoarchaeological assessment for the Project Site was conducted to identify the potential for the Project site to contain buried archaeological resources. Stantec reviewed the U.S. Geological Survey national database for geology and the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) national database for soils. Geoarchaeological studies for the region suggest that the Lake Oroville area contains pre-Pleistocene age landforms and that soils in foothill settings on ridge tops and slopes are shaped by tectonic uplift and surface water erosion/runoff or alluvial/fluvial factors. Therefore, the landform predates human occupation by many thousands of years, limiting the likelihood of buried archaeological deposits. Additionally, the forces of downslope erosion and run-off would displace surface artifacts if any were present. Based on this analysis, the likelihood of pre-European contact c resources within the Project Site is low.

Pedestrian Survey

On August 11, 2017 and May 18, 2022, Stantec archaeologists performed a pedestrian field survey of the Project Site. In general, surface visibility was high across the survey areas. The survey areas generally lacked vegetation because of annual inundation. Trowel and boot scrapes were used to remove silt deposits and expose native surfaces and soils in these areas. Eroded areas and recently exposed soils were carefully examined. Special attention was paid to all accessible bedrock outcrops and large boulders within the survey areas. The pedestrian survey did not identify any archaeological resources within the Project Site.

3.5.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource pursuant to Section 15064.5?

Finding: Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated

For a cultural resource to be considered a historical resource (i.e., eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources), it must generally be 50 years or older. Under CEQA, historical resources can include pre-European contact (i.e., Native American) archaeological deposits, historic-period archaeological deposits, historic buildings, and historic districts. CEQA requires that agencies considering projects that are subject to discretionary action shall consider the potential impacts on cultural resources that may occur from project implementation

Built-Environment Resources

The Project site neither contains nor is adjacent to any built environment resource that qualifies as a historical resource for the purposes of CEQA. Therefore, development on the Project site would not have the potential to cause a substantial adverse change to the significance of any built environment historical resource, as defined in Section 15064.5 of the CEQA Guidelines. The Project would not demolish a significant historical resource or alter its physical characteristics, nor would it change elements within the historic setting of such a resource. Therefore, the Project would have no impact on built environment historical resource setting of such a resource.

Archaeological Resources

Results of the records search and previous investigations discussed above indicate that no known archeological resources are located within the Project Site . Despite the negative results of the records search, literature review, and field survey, it cannot entirely be ruled out that archaeological deposits could be encountered during project construction activities such as earth-moving activities, debris and silt removal, and vegetation removal. Should archaeological deposits be encountered during project construction, a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource would occur from its demolition, destruction, relocation, or alteration such that the significance of the resource would be materially impaired (CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(b)(1)). Implementation of Mitigation Measure CUL-1: Cultural Resources Monitoringand MM CUL -2: Conduct Cultural Resource Awareness and Sensitivity Training, would ensure that impacts related to archaeological resources that qualify as historical resources would be reduced to less than significant.

b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource pursuant to Section 15064.5?

Finding: Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated

According to the CEQA Guidelines, "When a project will impact an archaeological site, a lead agency shall first determine whether the site is an historical resource" (CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(c)(1)). Those archaeological sites that do not qualify as historical resources shall be assessed to determine if these qualify as "unique archaeological resources" (California PRC Section 21083.2). As discussed above, excavations related to Project construction could encounter archaeological deposits and result in an adverse change to a buried archaeological deposit that could qualify as an archaeological resource. Thus, potentially significant impacts related to buried unidentified archaeological deposits resources could result from Earth-moving activities, debris and silt removal, and vegetation removal.

Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-1 and CUL-2 would ensure that impacts related to archaeological deposits that qualify as archaeological resource would be reduced to less than significant.

c) Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries?

Finding: Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated

As discussed above, there is a low potential for the disturbance of historical and/or archaeological resources and/or human remains as a result of the Project. In the event that human remains are identified during Project activities, these remains would be required to be treated in accordance with Section 7050.5 of the California Health and Safety Code and Section 5097.98 of the Public Resources Code, as appropriate. Section 7050.5 of the California Health and Safety Code states that, in the event of discovery or recognition of any human remains in any location other than a dedicated cemetery, there shall be no further excavation or disturbance of the site or any nearby area reasonably suspected to overlie adjacent remains until the coroner of the county in which the remains are discovered has determined whether or not the remains are subject to the coroner's authority. If the human remains are of Native American origin, the coroner must notify the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) within 24 hours of this identification. The NAHC will identify a Native American Most Likely Descendent (MLD) to inspect the site and provide recommendations for the proper treatment of the remains and associated grave goods. Compliance with the California

Health and Safety Code and CUL-1: Cultural Resources Monitoringand MM CUL -2: Conduct Cultural Resource Awareness and Sensitivity Training would ensure that impacts to human remains would be reduced to less than significant.

Mitigation Measures

3.5.1.1 MM CUL-1: Cultural Resources Monitoring

Prior to any Project-related ground disturbance, DWR shall retain the services of a qualified archaeologist who meets the Secretary of the Interior's (SOI) Professional Qualifications Standards for Archaeology ¹to implement and oversee archaeological monitoring of earth-moving activities, debris and silt removal, and vegetation removal. If archaeological deposits are encountered during Project-related ground disturbance, the monitoring archaeologist shall have the authority to stop work in the area (50-foot radius).

Work shall not resume until the monitoring archaeologist under the oversight of the SOI qualified archaeologist in consultation with DWR has:

- a) Designated the deposit as an Environmentally Sensitive Area (ESA) to ensure avoidance. Protective fencing or other markers shall be erected around the ESA prior to any ground disturbing activities. To protect sensitive information and to discourage unauthorized disturbance or collection of artifacts, the ESA shall only be designated as an ESA, with no signage designating the area as culturally sensitive.
- b) Determined that the archaeological deposit does not qualify as a historical resource or unique archaeological resource pursuant to PRC Section 5024.1 or PRC Section 21083.2(g) and no further archaeological investigation is necessary.
- c) Should the monitoring archaeologist under the oversight of the SOI qualified archaeologist and, in consultation with DWR, determine the archaeological deposit does qualify as a historical resource or unique archaeological resource pursuant to PRC Section 5024.1 or PRC Section 21083.2(g),and avoidance (CUL_1 (a) [ESA]) is not feasible, a treatment plan with appropriate protection and preservation measures will be developed for review, approval, and implementation by DWR to mitigate impacts to the resource.

Each cultural resource monitor shall complete the Daily Field Monitoring Log provided. In the log, they shall record details of their monitoring activities and any observations made throughout the day. Daily monitoring logs shall be submitted nightly or, at the

¹ U.S. Department of the Interior. 1983. Archaeology and Historic Preservation; Secretary of the Interior's Standards and Guidelines. Available: ttps://www.nps.gov/subjects/historicpreservation/upload/standards-guidelines-archeology-historic-preservation.pdf

latest, within 24 hours. All activities associated with construction monitoring shall be summarized and provided in a monthly report to DWR.

Following the completion of all ground disturbance associated with Project construction, the results of the archeological monitoring will be summarized in a technical document. The technical document shall be provided to DWR for review and approval and submitted to the NEIC.

Mitigation Measure CUL-1 Implementation

- **Responsible Party:** DWR
- **Timing:** Prior to and during implementation of Project construction activities
- **Monitoring and Reporting Program:** Each cultural resource monitor shall complete the Daily Field Monitoring Log provided. In the log, they shall record details of their monitoring activities and any observations made throughout the day. Daily monitoring logs shall be submitted nightly or, at the latest, within 24 hours. All activities associated with construction monitoring shall be summarized by the Cultural Resources Field Coordinator in a monthly report to be provided to DWR.
- Following the completion of all ground disturbance associated with Project construction, the results of the archeological monitoring will be summarized in a technical document. The technical document shall be provided to DWR for review and approval and submitted to the NEIC
- **Standards for Success:** Protection of historical resources, archaeological resources, and human remains. The evaluation and recording of any newly identified cultural resources and treatment by avoidance, protection, or documentation of any discovered resources that qualify as historically or archaeologically significant

3.5.1.2 MM CUL-2: Conduct Cultural Resource Awarness and Sensitivity Training

Prior to any Project-related ground disturbance, DWR shall retain the services of an SOI qualified archaeologist to oversee and ensure that all construction workers involved in ground disturbing activities receive Cultural Resource Sensitivity and Awareness Training by an archaeologist who is experienced in teaching non-specialists to recognize archaeological resources in the event that any are discovered during construction. Construction staff directly overseeing or engaged in ground disturbing activities must participate in this training. This training shall be provided once to each worker involved in ground-disturbing activities before they begin work and shall be documented in training records submitted to DWR

3.6 ENERGY

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Result in potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy resources, during Project construction or operation?			x	
b) Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency?			x	

3.6.1 <u>Environmental Impact Analysis</u>

Would the Project:

a) Result in potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy resources, during Project construction or operation?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The energy requirements for the Project were determined using the construction estimates generated from the Air Quality CalEEMod modeling. The calculation worksheets for energy consumption are provided in Appendix B.

3.6.1.1 Construction

During construction, the Project would utilize petroleum fuel (diesel and gasoline) for offroad construction equipment and on-road vehicles. Project construction is not anticipated to consume any natural gas or electricity.

Off-road construction equipment would consume approximately 11,812 gallons of diesel fuel. On-road vehicles would use approximately 12,633 gallons of diesel and gasoline fuel from construction worker, vendor, and hauling truck trips. There are no unusual Project characteristics that would necessitate the use of construction equipment that would be less energy-efficient than at comparable construction sites in other parts of the State. Therefore, it is expected that construction fuel associated with the Project would not be any more inefficient, wasteful, or unnecessary than at other construction sites in the region. Given the above, impacts would be less than significant.

3.6.1.2 Operation

During operation, the Project would consume electricity and petroleum fuel. However, as compared to existing conditions, the additional energy demand necessary for the Project would be minor. The Project would extend the existing restroom by approximately 650 square feet, which would not significantly increase electricity requirements. Moreover, the Project would not result in any additional permanent vehicle or truck trips beyond what exists under current conditions. Therefore, Project operation would not result in inefficient, wasteful, or unnecessary energy use, and impacts would be less than significant.

b) Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project would comply with federal, State, and local regulations aimed at reducing energy consumption. Local regulations have been developed in accordance with federal and State energy regulations, such as the California Energy Code Building Standards (CCR Title 24, Part 6), the CALGreen Code (CCR Title 24, Part 11), and Senate Bill (SB) 743, which are also aimed at reducing energy consumption. The Project would not conflict with or obstruct a State or local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency. Thus, the impact would be less than significant.

3.6.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.7 GEOLOGY AND SOILS

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Directly or indirectly cause substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving:			x	
i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent Alquist- Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on other substantial evidence of a known fault? Refer to Division of Mines and Geology Special Publication 42.			x	
ii) Strong seismic ground shaking?			X	
iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction?			X	
iv) Landslides?			x	
b) Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil?		x		
c) Be located on strata or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a result of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse?			x	
d) Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code, creating substantial risks to life or property?			x	
e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative wastewater disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of wastewater?				x
f) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic feature?			x	

3.7.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Directly or indirectly cause substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving:

i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on other substantial evidence of a known fault? Refer to Division of Mines and Geology Special Publication 42.

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act is the State law that focuses on hazards from earthquake fault zones. Its purpose is to mitigate the hazard of surface fault rupture by regulating structures designated for human occupancy near active faults, which include those faults that have ruptured within the last 11,000 years (DOC 2023). As required by the Act, the California Geological Survey has delineated Earthquake Fault Zones along known active faults in California. The Project area is not located in an Alquist-Priolo Fault Zone (Bryant and Hart 2007). The only active fault located in Butte County is the Cleveland Hills Fault, which is located approximately four miles south of the proposed Action area in the *Bangor, California* 7.5-minute USGS quadrangle. This fault was last active on August 1, 1975, which resulted in an earthquake with a magnitude of 5.7 approximately 7.5 miles south of Lake Oroville (Butte County 2019). However, the risk of fault rupture is not considered sufficient to restrict development within Butte County. The Project entails temporary construction, and operations following the Project will be similar to previous years. Therefore, the risk of loss, injury or death related to Project activities from a fault rupture would be less than significant.

ii) Strong seismic ground shaking?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The ground shaking hazard within the Project area is generally low compared to areas of California with more frequent fault activity (i.e., areas near the San Andreas Fault system). However, a large earthquake on a nearby fault could cause substantial ground shaking within the Project area, potentially resulting in an increased risk of structural loss, injury, or death. However, there will be approximately 10-15 personnel present during the construction phase of the Project, depending on daily activities, and there are no permanent residents within the area, thereby minimizing exposure. Further, construction of the Project will be temporary (approximately five months), with operations occurring seasonally similar to previous years. Therefore, the Project-related risk of loss, injury or death from ground shaking are considered be less than significant.

iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction, occurs when saturated sediments at or near the ground surface are loosely packed and take on a fluid-like quality as a result of powerful ground shaking (USGS 2017). Liquefaction is unlikely to occur within the Project area because, with the exception of the seismic events discussed above, most of the significant Quaternary and historical regional seismic activity is concentrated on faults located more than 60 miles to the north, east, and southeast of the Project area. Although the areas within the Project area are not within an Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone, they are located approximately four miles north of the Cleveland Hills Fault, last active on August 1, 1975, which resulted in an earthquake with a magnitude of 5.7 approximately 7.5 miles south of Lake Oroville. Prior to the earthquake in 1975, three others were recorded since 1900 between magnitudes of 5.0 and 5.9 on the Richter scale (Toppozada and Morrison 1982). However, the Project area would not be susceptible to liquefaction due to the dry compacted and stable soils and, thus, there would be a less than significant impact.

iv) Landslides?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Although landslides could occur in Butte County, they are uncommon, and most occur in areas that have historical landslide activity and have a greater than 15 percent slope. Within Butte County, the sites with the highest potential for landslides to occur are located in the central mountainous region where well-developed soils overlay impervious bedrock on steep slopes and can experience heavy rain events. Figure HS 6, Landslide Potential, within the Health and Safety Element of the Butte County General Plan, indicates that there is a high potential for landslides within the Project area (Butte County 2019). Landslides have occurred along the banks of Lake Oroville and are concentrated along the North Fork Feather River arm (Bloomer Hill area) and in the South Fork Feather River arm (Stringtown Mountain area) (DWR 2007). However, due to the dry compacted, stable, and vegetated soils within the Project area and temporary and minimal ground disturbance that would occur, the potential for a landslide is very low within the Project area. Therefore, there would be a less than significant impact relative to a landslide that would expose people or structures to potential adverse effects.

b) Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil?

Finding: Less Than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated

Soil types within the Project area are relatively shallow and well-drained in the upland areas. Where the Project area is beneath the OHWM of Lake Oroville, soils tend to be relatively compacted, gravelly and medium textured with finer subsoils, and may be susceptible to erosion due to wave and wind action. According to Figure HS-7, Erosion Hazard Potential, within the Health and Safety Element of the Butte County General Plan, the Project area falls within a severe erosion hazard potential zone or category (Butte County 2019). However, Project activities, including grading, bank cutting, rip rap stabilization, vegetation removal, and excavation will require temporary ground

disturbance, which could, in the interim, increase soil erosion. Additionally, temporary construction activities would disturb more than one acre of soil; as such, those activities would be subject to the requirements of the NPDES Construction General Permit. Therefore, MM GEO-1, Sedimentation and Erosion Control Measures, includes the submission of a Notice of Intent with the SWRCB Division of Water Quality that describes general information on the types of construction activities that would occur within the Project area.

A Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) would be prepared for coverage under the Statewide stormwater discharge permit program, administered by the SWRCB and required under Section 402 of the CWA. The NPDES program regulates industrial pollutant discharges, including construction activities, and the implementation of the SWPPP requires that pollutant sources, which may affect the quality of stormwater discharge, be properly identified and that BMPs be put in place to reduce pollutants in stormwater discharge during all maintenance activities (EPA 2022). Therefore, with the implementation of MM GEO-1, impacts to soil erosion or loss of topsoil would be less than significant.

c) Be located on strata or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a result of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

As discussed in a) and b) above, maintenance activities would result in less than significant impacts regarding the movement of soil, such as landslides, lateral spreading, or liquefaction. Maintenance activities do not include the extraction of groundwater or other subsurface materials and, therefore, would not cause land subsidence or the collapse or sinking of the ground's surface (USGS 2019). Therefore, impacts would be less than significant.

d) Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18 1 B of the Uniform Building Code, creating substantial risks to life or property?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Expansive or collapsible soils are characterized by the ability to undergo significant volume change (e.g., shrink and swell) as a result of variation in soil moisture content. As shown in Figure HS-8, Expansive Soil Potential, within the Health and Safety Element of the Butte County General Plan, the Project area is located in an area with very low expansive soil potential (Butte County 2019). Modifications to the existing restroom facilities will be located in the same location or within the immediate vicinity of existing structure and on previously disturbed or graded areas, and will be constructed in compliance with applicable Uniform Building Code regulations not creating substantial risks to life or property. Therefore, the potential impacts would be less than significant.

e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative wastewater disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of wastewater?

Finding: No Impact

Project activities do not require the use of septic tanks or alternative wastewater disposal systems and, therefore, no impacts would occur.

f) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic feature?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project area is within the FERC Project No. 2100 boundary, which encompasses 41,100 acres and includes both power and non-power generating facilities both surrounding and associated with Lake Oroville. Within this boundary there are three areas that could be sensitive to disturbance of paleontological resources. These are in the vicinity of Lime Saddle where the blocks of Calaveras Limestone in the mélange sequence are known to contain fossils; an area about halfway along the Thermalito Diversion Pool that is crossed by an outcrop of the Monte del Oro Formation that is known to contain fossils; and the vicinity of the Thermalito Forebay and Afterbay that overlay the Laguna Formation, which in other places is known to contain vertebrate fossils (DWR 2007). The proposed construction activities for this project are not near any of the areas containing fossils.

3.7.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

3.7.2.1 MM GEO-1: Sedimentation and Erosion Control Measures

In compliance with the requirements of the NDPES permit program, for ground disturbance greater than 1 acre, DWR shall obtain coverage under a Construction General Permit and prepare a SWPPP that incorporates measures or comparable BMPs that describe the site, erosion and sediment controls, means of waste disposal, implementation of approved local plans, control of post-construction sediment, erosion control measures, maintenance responsibilities, and non-stormwater management controls. DWR shall require all construction contractors to retain a copy of the approved SWPPP during maintenance activities and to implement the SWPPP. Additionally, the SWPPP shall require that all stormwater discharges are in compliance with all current requirements of the Construction General Permit.

Mitigation Measure GEO-1 Implementation

- **Responsible Party:** DWR shall obtain coverage under a Construction General Permit and prepare a SWPPP. This mitigation measure will be referenced in the plans and specifications bid for the Project.
- **Timing:** During construction activities and until the site is stabilized

- **Monitoring and Reporting Program:** The recording and evaluation of the SWPPP and erosion control practices shall be conducted by DWR and/or the contractor and kept on file at DWR's office.
- **Standards for Success:** Minimize on- and off-site erosion and prevent introduction of significant amounts of sediment into the lake or any stream or drainage. Ensure that all stormwater discharges are in compliance with all current requirements of the Construction General Permit.

3.8 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the environment?			x	
b) Conflict with any applicable plan, policy or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases?			x	

3.8.1 Environmental Impact Anlaysis

Would the Project:

a) Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the environment?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The BCAQMD has not established a threshold of significance for greenhouse gases (GHGs) as it is unlikely that any one project would substantially contribute to global climate change. The BCAQMD considers GHG impacts to be cumulative in nature and should be evaluated according to an applicable Climate Action Plan (CAP). If there is no applicable CAP, the BCAQMD states that the lead agency may consider GHG emissions of the project in relation to the goals of Assembly Bill 32 (2006), Senate Bill 375 (2009) and related legislation, or according to the criteria used by other jurisdictions with a similar air quality setting (BCAQMD 2014). As a result, in order to evaluate Project significance, emissions were compared against GHG thresholds established by the Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District (SMAQMD) (SMAQMD 2021). In addition, the Project was compared to the Butte County CAP and CARB's 2017 Scoping Plan in order to ensure that the Project will comply with local reductions and Assembly Bill 32 (2006). Reduction targets in the CAP call for a 15% reduction below baseline 2006 GHG emission levels by 2020 consistent with State guidelines, and a 42% reduction below baseline 2006 levels by 2030

GHGs emitted from the combustion of fuels such as petroleum consist of carbon dioxide (CO_2) , methane (CH_4) , and nitrogen dioxide (N_2O) , collectively reported as carbon dioxide equivalents (CO_2e) . GHGs are also emitted from mobile sources such as onroad vehicles and construction equipment burning fuels such as gasoline, diesel, biodiesel, propane, or natural gas. Indirect GHG emissions result from electric power generated elsewhere that is used to operate process equipment, lighting, and utilities at a facility. The principal anthropogenic GHGs that enter the atmosphere are CO_2 , CH_4 ,

N₂O, chlorofluorocarbons, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons, and sulfur hexafluoride. Among these GHGs, CO₂ emissions are the most abundant type of GHG emissions contributing to global climate change.

3.8.1.1 Construction

GHG emissions were estimated in CalEEMod; refer to Section 3.3 (Air Quality) for a discussion of inputs. Table 3.8-1 presents a summary of the construction GHG emissions. Total GHG emissions were compared against SMAQMD construction thresholds. Construction emissions were also amortized over a period of thirty years, as is standard in CEQA analysis, to evaluate the annual GHG construction emissions with operational emissions.

Table 3.8-1. Project Greenhouse Gases Construction Emissions

Year	Carbon Dioxide Equivalents (Total Metric Tons)
2023	376
Total	376
SMAQMD Threshold	1,100
Exceed?	No
Amortized Emissions	12.53

As shown in Table 3.8-1, construction emissions would fall below SMAQMD's construction threshold. Operational emissions are included in Table 3.8-2.

3.8.1.2 Operational

Operational emissions were also calculated within CalEEMod with inputs detailed in Section 3.3 (Air Quality). As shown in Table 3.8-2, operational emissions would fall below SMAQMD annual GHG thresholds.

Table 3.8-2. Project Greenhouse Gases Operational Emissions

Source	Carbon Dioxide Equivalents (Total Metric Tons)
Area	0.00
Energy	0.17
Mobile	1.60
Amortized Construction Emissions	12.53
Total	14.13

Source	Carbon Dioxide Equivalents (Total Metric Tons)
SMAQMD Threshold	1,100
Exceed?	No

As shown in Table 3.8-2, operational GHG emissions would not exceed SMAQMD annual operational thresholds. Therefore, GHG emissions would not result in a significant increase of emissions due to implementation of the Project. Thus, impacts would be less than significant.

b) Conflict with any applicable plan, policy or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project would not conflict with any applicable plans, policies, or regulations adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of GHGs. The primary applicable plans are the County of Butte County General Plan, the 2014 Butte County CAP, and CARB's 2017 Scoping Plan. CARB's 2017 Scoping Plan sets a framework for the State to meet SB 32, which sets GHG emission reductions for the year 2030 (CARB 2017).

3.8.1.3 Butte County General Plan

The Butte County General Plan includes a series of policies aimed at reducing air quality impacts and increasing energy efficiency, which in turn would reduce GHG emissions. The Project would be consistent with all applicable policies under the County General Plan. Specifically, the Project would be consistent with Policy COS-P5.1, which requires that air quality planning efforts be coordinated with local, regional, and State agencies; COS-P1.1 that requires GHG emission impacts from proposed development projects be evaluated as required under CEQA; and COS-P2.2, which requires new development to comply with Green Building Standards adopted by the California Building Standards Commission at the time of the building permit application submittal (Butte County 2019).

3.8.1.4 Butte County CAP

The Butte County CAP provides goals, policies, and programs to reduce GHG emissions, address climate change adaptation, and improve quality of life in the county. The CAP also supports Statewide GHG emission reduction goals identified in Assembly Bill 32 and SB 375. Most policies are aimed at new residential and non-residential building developments that would not be applicable to rural, recreational development. The Project would be consistent with Policy EN7 which encourages new non-residential buildings to meet or exceed CALGreen standards (Butte County 2014). The Project would upgrade an existing bathroom structure and all new water and energy features would be required to implement the latest CALGreen standards.

3.8.1.5 CARB 2017 Scoping Plan

The initial CARB Scoping Plan proposed a comprehensive set of actions designed to achieve the 2020 GHG reductions required under AB 32, and the 2017 Scoping Plan incorporated the 2030 GHG Reductions required under SB 32. Table 3.8-3 identifies the 2017 Scoping Plan measures and the Project's applicability.

Measure Name	Measure Description	Consistency Determination
SB 350 50% Renewable Mandate	Utilities subject to the legislation will be required to increase their renewable energy mix from 33% in 2020 to 50% in 2030.	Consistent . The Project would purchase electricity subject to the SB 350 Renewable Mandate.
Low Carbon Fuel Standard	This measure requires fuel providers to meet an 18% reduction in carbon content by 2030.	Consistent . Vehicles accessing the Project site would use fuel containing lower carbon content as the fuel standard is implemented.
Mobile Source Strategy (Cleaner Technology and Fuels Scenario)	Vehicle manufacturers will be required to meet existing regulations mandated by the LEV III and Heavy-Duty Vehicles programs. The strategy includes a goal of having 4.2 million ZEVs on the road by 2030 and increasing numbers of ZEV trucks and buses.	Consistent . Future maintenance workers and site visitors can be expected to purchase increasing numbers of more fuel efficient and zero emission cars and trucks each year.
Short-Lived Climate Pollutant (SLCP) Reduction Strategy	The strategy requires the reduction of SLCPs by 40% from 2013 levels by 2030 and the reduction of black carbon by 50% from 2013 levels by 2030.	Consistent . SLCPs include SFCs, black carbon, and methane. Black carbon is created from the burning of fuels such as coal, diesel, and biomass. Diesel equipment and vehicles would be used during Project construction, which would cease once construction ends. Project operations are not expected to generate significant levels of air quality or greenhouse gas emissions. Moreover, future maintenance workers and site visitors can be expected to purchase increasing numbers of more fuel efficient and zero emission cars and trucks each year.
SB 375 Sustainable Communities Strategies	Requires Regional Transportation Plans to include a sustainable communities' strategy for reduction of per capita vehicle miles traveled.	Not applicable . This policy is aimed at the local Council of Governments to prepare a Regional Transportation Plan.

Table 3.8-3.	SB 32 Scoping Plan Consistency Analysis
--------------	---

Measure Name	Measure Description	Consistency Determination
Post-2020 Cap and Trade Program	The Post 2020 Cap and Trade Program continues the existing program for another 10 years. The Cap and Trade Program applies to large industrial sources such as power plants, refineries, and cement manufacturers.	Consistent . The Post 2020 Cap and Trade program indirectly affects people who use the products and services produced by the regulated industrial sources when increased cost of products or services (i.e., such as electricity and fuel) are transferred to the consumers. The Cap and Trade Program covers the GHG emissions associated with electricity consumed in California, whether generated in-State or imported. Accordingly, GHG emissions associated with CEQA projects' emissions associated with CEQA projects' electricity usage are covered by the Cap and Trade Program. The Cap and Trade program also covers fuel suppliers (e.g., natural gas and propane fuel providers, and transportation fuel providers) to address emissions from such fuels and from combustion of other fossil fuels not directly covered at large sources during the program's first compliance period.

Source: CARB. 2017

As shown above, the Project would be consistent with the Butte County General Plan, Butte County CAP, and CARB's 2017 Final Scoping Plan and, as a result, the Project would not conflict with an applicable plan, policy, or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions. Thus, the impact would be less than significant.

3.8.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.9 HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials?			x	
b) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment?			x	
c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school?				x
d) Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to <i>Government Code Section</i> <i>65962.5</i> and, as a result, would it create a significant hazard to the public or the environment?				x
e) For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result in a safety hazard or excessive noise for people residing or working in the Project footprint?				x
f) Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan?				x
g) Expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury or death involving wildland fires?			x	

3.9.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Proposed construction activities would involve the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous substances such as diesel fuels, gasoline, hydraulic fluids, and lubricants. However, all hazardous material use would be required to comply with all applicable local, State, and federal standards associated with the handling, storage, and disposal of hazardous materials. Use of hazardous materials in accordance with applicable standards ensures that any exposure of the public or the environment to hazard materials would result in a less than significant impact.

b) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

During construction, there is a possibility of accidental release of hazardous materials routinely used. However, all hazardous material use would be required to comply with all applicable local, State, and federal standards associated with the handling, storage, and disposal of hazardous materials. Moreover, the Project would be required to implement a SWPPP that would minimize the potential for, and effects from, spills of hazardous, toxic, and petroleum substances during construction activities. Therefore, the Project would not create a significant hazard to the public or the environment, resulting in a less than significant impact.

c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school?

Finding: No Impact

No schools exist within one-quarter mile of the Project site and no new schools are being proposed for development in that area. Therefore, the Project would have no impact.

d) Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a significant hazard to the public or the environment?

Finding: No Impact

On January 13, 2023, a review of the California Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC) EnviroStor demonstrated that the Project is not located on or near a hazardous waste or border property as defined under Government Code Section 65962.5(a) (DTSC 2023). Therefore, the Project would have no impact.

e) For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result in a safety hazard or excessive noise for people residing or working in the Project footprint?

Finding: No Impact

There are no people residing within the Project area. The Project is not located within an airport land-use plan, within two miles of a public-use airport, or in the vicinity of a private airstrip. The nearest public-use airport is the Oroville Municipal Airport, which is located approximately 12 miles southwest of the Project site. The nearest private-use airport is the Brownsville Airpark located 7.3 miles south of the Project site. Therefore, the Project would not result in an airport-related safety hazard for people working in the Project area. Thus, the Project would have no impact.

f) Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan?

Finding: No Impact

The Project is not located within any major thoroughfares that may be used as an evacuation route, and it does not contain any essential facilities for emergency response. Therefore, there would be no impact.

g) Expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury or death involving wildland fires?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project is in an area designated by the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) as a very high fire hazard severity zone (CAL FIRE 2022). No residences exist within the Project footprint, but workers constructing the Project would be temporarily exposed to the risk of wildfire that exists for the area over the five-month construction period. The Project is located within the State Responsibility Area where CAL FIRE works in collaboration with the Butte County Fire Divisions to provide wildfire protection. The Butte County Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) outlines fire management strategies (Butte County 2021). Implementation of this plan reduces worker exposure during construction. Therefore, the Project would not expose people or structures to risk from wildland fires and the impact would be less than significant.

3.9.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.10 HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Violate water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or otherwise substantially degrade surface or groundwater quality?		x		
b) Substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater recharge such that the Project may impede sustainable groundwater management of the basin?				x
c) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of impervious surfaces, in a manner which would:		x		
i) Result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site;		х		
ii) Substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on- or off- site			x	
iii) Create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff; or			x	
iv) Impede or redirect flood flows.				x
d) In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk release of pollutants due to project inundation?			x	
e) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable groundwater management plan?				x

3.10.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Violate water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or otherwise substantially degrade surface or groundwater quality?

Finding: Less Than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated

The Project includes activities associated with the Oroville Facilities, which provide hydropower generation and water to the SWP for recreation, fish hatchery, and wildlife refuge operations, as well as water storage management for flood risk reduction. The Project would require earthwork, riprap, concrete, aggregate base rock, and drain rock. If improperly constructed, such activities have the potential to disturb soils, which could result in erosion from wind and/or water, potentially leading to sediment-laden stormwater runoff. Because Project construction would primarily occur in dry conditions but below the OHWM, DWR would obtain and adhere to applicable permits.

Furthermore, MM GEO-1, Implement Sedimentation and Erosion Control Measures, would be implemented during Project construction to avoid and minimize potential adverse impacts to water quality from erosion and sedimentation. MM GEO-1 also requires the preparation of a SWPPP for coverage under the NPDES permit program, administered by the SWRCB, and as required under Section 402 of the CWA. The NPDES program regulates industrial pollutant discharges, including construction activities, and the SWPPP requires that pollutant sources that may affect the quality of stormwater discharge be properly identified. The SWPPP also requires BMPs to be implemented to reduce pollutants in stormwater discharges during all Project activities.

Project construction will be conducted primarily conditions when lake levels are below the Project footprint; however, if necessary, depending on how low the lake levels drop during the construction year, some riprap placement and construction may need to occur in water within approximately 10 -15 feet of the shore. If minor in water work can't be avoided, DWR will implement the conditions in the project-specific CWA 401 Water quality Certification (MM BIO-02). These include but are not limited to the use of silt curtains if required, water quality monitoring, and adherance to permit-specified turbidity thresholds. Therefore, impacts to surface or groundwater quality associated with the Project would be less than significant, with mitigation. Specifically, with the implementation of MM BIO-2 and MM GEO-1, Project construction is not anticipated to result in a significant violation of water quality standards or wastewater discharge requirements, or otherwise substantially degrade surface or groundwater quality.

b) Substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater recharge such that the Project may impede sustainable groundwater management of the basin?

Finding: No Impact

The Project area is located within the lakebed of Lake Oroville (i.e., below the OHWM). While the Project will require borrow material taken from a hill within the Project area that could be reduced in height as much as 75 feet, the Project also includes soil and rock excavations that would be no greater than 30 feet in depth and are not expected to reach the groundwater table. Additionally, Project activities would not decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater recharge, as no water would be pumped from any on- or off-site groundwater sources. All ground disturbance would be backfilled and graded to design specifications. Therefore, there would be no impact on groundwater supplies, recharge, or sustainable groundwater management.

c) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of impervious surfaces, in a manner which would:

i) Result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site;

Finding: Less than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated

While ground disturbance activities have the potential to result in erosion or siltation, MM GEO-1 would be implemented to control erosion or siltation during Project activities. Disturbed areas within the Project area will be graded and compacted and fill slopes will be lined with rock slope protection to further reduce erosion. All temporarily disturbed areas will be returned to pre-Project contours and conditions, and temporarily disturbed areas above the OHWM will be stabilized to reduce potential for erosion of upland areas. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant with mitigation incorporated.

ii) Substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on- or off-site;

Finding: Less than Significant Impact

The Project has been designed to facilitate surface runoff so that it will not substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner that would result in flooding on- or off-site. Lake Oroville itself is a flood control facility, and the Project has been designed in a way so as to not impact the functionality of that facility. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant.

iii) Create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff;

Finding: Less than Significant Impact

The Project has been designed so that runoff of water would flow to Lake Oroville, and thus, would not exceed the capacity of existing or planned stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff. Lake Oroville itself is a flood control facility, and the Project has been designed in a way so as to not impact the functionality of that facility. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant.

iv) Impede or redirect flood flows.

Finding: No Impact

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Map Service Center shows that the Project area is within FEMA's designated Zone A, "Without Base Flood Elevation." Per FEMA, Zone A delineates areas with a 1 percent annual chance of flooding; because detailed analyses are not performed for such areas, no depths or base flood elevations are shown within these zones (FEMA 2021). The Project would not create or contribute significant additional runoff above baseline conditions and, therefore, would not impede or redirect flood flows. As a result, no impacts would occur.

d) In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk release of pollutants due to project inundation?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

As discussed above, the Project is located in areas that FEMA has designated as Zone A. Additionally, the Project is located within the Lake Oroville FERC license boundary. The Project would be constructed at existing facilities where pollutants are secured in accordance with local regulations. Further, the Project would not be constructed during flood events. Thus, the risk of pollutant release during Project inundation is less than significant.

The Project is located approximately 125 miles east of the Pacific Ocean and, therefore, is not located within a tsunami risk zone. Given the size of Lake Oroville, if sieche waves occurred, they would be small. Therefore, the risk of the release of pollutants due to Project inundation would be less than significant.

e) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable groundwater management plan?

Finding: No Impact

The Project is located within the jurisdiction of the Central Valley RWQCB. As discussed in this IS/MND, the Project would obtain a 401 WQC.

Pursuant to CWA Section 303, the Central Valley RWQCB has adopted, and the SWRCB has approved, the Water Quality Control Plan for the Sacramento and San Joaquin River Basins (Basin Plan), which was last amended in May 2018 (Central Valley RWQCB 2018). The Basin Plan performs a variety of functions, such as designating that beneficial uses within specified waters be protected, establishing water quality objectives to protect those uses, and setting forth a program for implementation needed to achieve those objectives. The Feather River and associated waterways are designated for the following beneficial uses: municipal and domestic supply, power, recreation, freshwater habitat, spawning, and wildlife habitat (Central Valley RWQCB 2018).

Project construction would be temporary in duration and would occur within the footprint of existing facilities. Therefore, the Project would continue to comply with the facilities' operational requirements and would not change designated beneficial uses through long-term alteration of flows or temperature changes. Thus, the Project would remain in compliance with the Basin Plan.

The Project does not require pumping of groundwater or any increases in the use or extraction of local groundwater and, therefore, would not conflict or obstruct implementation of a sustainable groundwater management plan. As such, there would be no impact.

3.10.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

- Mitigation Measure GEO-1: Sedimentation and Erosion Control Measures (refer to Section 3.7 [Geology and Soils])
- Mitigation Measure BIO-2: Water Quality Protections and Compensation for Direct Impacts to Waters of the U.S.

3.11 LAND USE AND PLANNING

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Physically divide an established community?				x
b) Cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict with any land use plan, policy, or regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect?			x	

3.11.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Physically divide an established community?

Finding: No Impact

The Project site is located in the existing Enterprise area within the Lake Oroville SRA and is surrounded by rural recreational areas. The nearest established community to the Project site is Forbestown, located approximately 4.5 miles to the southeast. The Project would not involve the construction of facilities that would create a new physical barrier between any existing communities or restrict access to any nearby communities. Therefore, the Project would not physically divide an established community, and no impact would occur.

b) Cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict with any land use plan, policy, or regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project site has a Butte County General Plan designation of "Public" and a zoning designation of "Public" (Butte County 2019, Butte County 2023). The Public land use designation allows for "large facilities owned and operated by government agencies, including schools, colleges, airports, dams and reservoirs, disposal sites, recreation facilities, conservation areas, fire stations and other government buildings and property" (Butte County 2019). The Project construction and operation activities have been analyzed for consistency with the relevant DWR and Butte County General Plans, policies, and regulations in each of the resource sections throughout this IS/MND. In this IS/MND, the Project was found to either be consistent with, or not subject to, the

aforementioned plans, policies, and regulations. Therefore, the potential land use impact is less than significant.

3.11.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.12 MINERAL RESOURCES

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the region and the residents of the State?				х
b) Result in the loss of availability of a locally important mineral resource recovery site delineated on a local general plan, specific plan, or other land use plan?				x

3.12.1 <u>Environmental Impact Analysis</u>

Would the Project:

a) Would the project result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the region and the residents of the state?

Finding: No Impact

The Project site has not been designated by the California Department of Conservation (CDC) as an area of known mineral resources (CDC 2023). Therefore, the Project would not result in a loss of availability of a known mineral resource. As such, there would be no impact.

b) Would the project result in the loss of availability of a locally important mineral resource recovery site delineated on a local general plan, specific plan, or other land use plan?

Finding: No Impact

There are no mineral resource recovery sites identified within or near the Project area in the Butte County General Plan (Butte County 2019). The Project would not result in impacts related to the loss of availability of a locally important mineral resource recovery site delineated on a local general plan, specific plan, or other land use plan. Therefore, the Project would have no impact.

3.12.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.13 NOISE

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Generation of a substantial temporary or permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the project in excess of standards established in the local general plan or noise ordinance, or applicable standards or other agencies?			x	
b) Generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels?			х	
c) For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the Project expose people be residing or working in the Project area to excessive noise levels?				x

3.13.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Generation of a substantial temporary or permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the project in excess of standards established in the local general plan or noise ordinance, or applicable standards or other agencies?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Noise is defined as unwanted sound; sound becomes unwanted when it creates a nuisance that interferes with normal activities, or when it causes physical harm and adversely affects human health. The standard unit of measurement for the loudness of sound is the decibel (dB). The zero point on the dB scale is based on the lowest sound level that a healthy, unimpaired human ear can detect. Changes of 3 dB or fewer are not perceptible to the human ear. A general rule for dB scale is that a 10-dB increase in sound is perceived as a doubling of loudness by the human ear (FHWA 2017). For example, a 55-dB sound level would sound twice as loud as a 45-dB sound level.

Noise-sensitive land uses are generally defined as locations where people reside. This can include where people live, sleep, recreate, worship, and study, and these places are generally considered to be sensitive to noise. Sensitive receptors near the Project area include rural residences and recreational users. The nearest residence is approximately 0.1 miles to the northeast of the Project. Additionally, recreational users

at Lake Oroville could also be exposed to construction noise generated from the Project.

Butte County has developed noise standards to limit noise impacts for sensitive receptors. These noise standards are included in Table 3.13-1, below. However, the Butte County Municipal Code exempts construction noise from these standards, provided that construction activities take place between sunrise and sunset on weekdays, between 8:00 AM and 6:00 PM on Saturdays, and 10:00 AM and 6:00 PM on Sundays, and do not occur on holidays (Butte County Municipal Code Chapter 41A-9).

 Table 3.13-1. Butte County Maximum Allowable Noise Exposure to Non Transportation Sources

Neise Lovel	Daytime 7 AM–7 PM		Evening 7 PM–10 PM		Night 10 PM–7 AM	
Description	Urban	Non-urban	Urban	Non-urban	Urban	Non-urban
Hourly L _{eq} , dB	55	50	50	45	45	40
Maximum Level, dB	70	60	60	55	55	50

Source: Butte County 2019

Key:

dB = decibel

Leq = equivalent continuous noise level

Construction noise is difficult to quantify because of the many variables involved, including the specific equipment types, size of equipment used, percentage of time that each piece is in operation, condition of each piece of equipment, and number of pieces that would operate at the site. Construction equipment produces maximum noise levels when the equipment is operating under full power conditions (i.e., the equipment engine at maximum speed). However, equipment used at construction sites typically operates under less than full power conditions, or partial power. To characterize construction-period noise levels more accurately, the Leq associated with each construction stage is calculated based on the quantity, type, and usage factors for each type of equipment that would be used during each construction stage. These noise levels are typically associated with multiple pieces of equipment simultaneously operating at partial power. The following noise levels would be associated with the anticipated construction equipment:

Equipment	Usage (Percent)	Lmax (A-weighted decibels)	Leq (A-weighted decibels)	Distance to Nearest Receptor (feet)
Backhoe	40	57.1	53.1	528
Bulldozer	40	61.2	57.2	528
Concrete Truck	40	58.3	54.3	528
Dump Truck	40	56.0	52.0	528
Excavator	40	60.2	56.3	528
Grader	40	64.5	60.5	528
Pick-up Truck	40	54.5	50.5	528
Roller/compactor	20	59.5	52.5	528
Total		69.0	64.8	

 Table 3.13-2.
 Estimated Construction Equipment Noise Levels

Key:

Lmax = maximum noise level

Leq = equivalent continuous noise level

The maximum noise level associated with the on-site construction equipment at the nearest receptor is 69 dBA. This is the maximum noise level that could occur if all construction equipment were to operate at the same time, which is highly unlikely. More likely, noise levels would be variable depending on the location within the Project area.

Construction activities would take place between the hours of 7:00 AM to sunset on weekdays and, if needed, between 8:00 AM and 6:00 PM on Saturdays. Therefore, the construction schedule would limit potential effects related to noise exposure and would be consistent with the Butte County Municipal Code. Noise-related effects would be temporary and short-term. Thus, the Project would have a less than significant impact related to generation of noise in excess of standards.

b) Generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Vibration refers to groundborne noise and perceptible motion. Typical sources of groundborne vibration are construction activities (e.g., blasting, pile driving, and operating heavy-duty earth-moving equipment), steel-wheeled train operation, and occasional traffic on rough roads. The U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration (FTA) provides guidelines for maximum-acceptable vibration criteria for different types of land uses. These guidelines allow up to 80 vibration decibels (VdB) for residential uses and buildings where people normally sleep (FTA 2018). Construction activities may result in varying degrees of groundborne vibration, depending on the equipment and methods used. Construction equipment such as air compressors, light trucks, and hydraulic loaders generate little or no ground vibration. Occasionally, large, loaded trucks can cause perceptible vibration levels at close proximity. The FTA guidelines of 80 VdB for sensitive land uses provide the basis for determining the relative significance of potential Project-related vibration impacts.

The Project construction would not include activities such as blasting or pile driving that could cause excessive ground borne vibration. Therefore, the potential for the Project to result in the generation of excessive ground borne vibration or ground borne noise levels would be considered less than significant.

c) For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the Project expose people residing or working in the Project area to excessive noise levels?

Finding: No Impact

The closest airport is the Brownsville Airpark, located approximately six miles to the southeast of the Project. Therefore, the Project would not be located within the vicinity of a private airstrip and would not expose people residing or working on the Project area to excessive noise levels. Therefore, no impacts would occur.

3.13.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.
3.14 POPULATION AND HOUSING

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Induce substantial unplanned population growth in an area, either directly (for example, by proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of roads or other infrastructure)?				x
b) Displace substantial numbers of existing people or housing, necessitating the construction of replacement housing elsewhere?				x

3.14.1 <u>Environmental Impact Analysis</u>

Would the Project:

a) Induce substantial unplanned population growth in an area, either directly (for example, by proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of roads or other infrastructure)?

Finding: No Impact

The Project would neither directly nor indirectly induce substantial unplanned growth in population. No new homes or businesses are proposed, and although a new access road and parking lot would be constructed as part of the Project, they would only be used for access to the new boat ramp and picnic area associated with the Project. No new residents or employees would occupy areas within the Project. Therefore, the Project would result in no impact.

b) Displace substantial numbers of existing people or housing, necessitating the construction of replacement housing elsewhere?

Finding: No Impact

There are no residences within or near the Project area. The Project would not displace any existing residents or housing within the Project area. Therefore, no impacts would occur.

3.14.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.15 PUBLIC SERVICES

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times, or other performance objectives for any of the public services:				
Fire protection?				x
Police protection?				х
Schools?				X
Parks?			x	
Other public facilities?			x	

3.15.1 <u>Enviromental Impact Analysis</u>

Would the Project:

a) Result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times, or other performance objectives for any of the public services:

Fire Protection?

Finding: No Impact

CAL FIRE and the Butte County Fire Department (BCFD) provide fire and emergency services to the entire unincorporated county population, protecting over 1,600 square miles, except for the cities of Chico and Oroville, the town of Paradise and the El Medio Fire Protection District. Services include fire control for structural, vegetation, vehicular, and other unwanted fires; emergency medical services and technical rescue response; hazardous materials response; flood control assistance; fire prevention and public safety education, fire law enforcement, and arson investigation; and vegetation management (Butte County 2019).

Project operations would be similar to existing conditions, and as a result, would not create any new demand for fire protection. Furthermore, the Project does not adversely affect response times or alter any fire service facilities or capabilities. Therefore, there would be no impact to fire protection services.

Police Protection?

Finding: No Impact

The Butte County Sheriff's Office (BCSO) is responsible for law enforcement, criminal investigation, and crime prevention in the unincorporated areas of the county. BCSO works with the California Highway Patrol (CHP), which provides law enforcement services and traffic control for State roads and roads in the unincorporated portions of the county (Butte County 2019).

Project operations would be similar to existing conditions, and as a result, would not create any new demand for police protection. Further, the Project does not adversely affect response times or alter any police service facilities or capabilities. Therefore, there would be no impact to police protection services.

Schools?

Finding: No Impact

The Project would not create any new demand for additional school construction, nor does it affect the operations of existing schools. Therefore, there would be no impact to schools.

Parks?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project would not create or alter demand for recreational services, nor would it interfere with public usage of existing recreational facilities. There would be a temporary five-month impact to the recreational area during construction, but other parks and recreation areas are open to the public and available in lieu of the recreational area. Therefore, the Project would have a less than significant impact on parks.

Other Public Facilities?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project would temporarily impact public usage of recreational facilities during the five-month construction period. However, neither construction nor operation would impact the use of other public facilities. Therefore, the Project would have a less than significant impact.

3.15.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.16 RECREATION

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Would the project increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated?			x	
b) Does the project include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of recreational facilities which might have an adverse physical effect on the environment?			x	

3.16.1 <u>Environmental Impact Analysis</u>

Would the Project:

a) Would the project increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

During Project construction there would be a temporary closure of portions of the existing Enterprise recreation area. This temporary closure could result in visitors making use of the nearby recreational areas. However, substantial physical deterioration of those nearby areas due to short-term use is not anticipated because the use would be temporary (approximately five months in duration). Additionally, there are multiple recreational areas within the vicinity that would help distribute users amongst several areas and would help ensure that visitor use not be concentrated at one particular recreational location. Therefore, the potential for Project construction activities to increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facilities would occur or be accelerated is less than significant.

The completed Project would enable increased recreational access to the lake, as well as additional picnic area usage. However, operation of the Project would not have the potential to increase use to a degree that could substantially deteriorate the existing Enterprise recreational area. Therefore, no operational impact would occur.

Based on the assessment of construction and operational impacts, the overall potential for the Project to increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other

recreational facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facilities would occur or be accelerated would be considered less than significant.

b) Does the project include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of recreational facilities which might have an adverse physical effect on the environment?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project is located within the existing Enterprise recreational area and would temporarily restrict public access to portions of the area. However, this temporary restriction is not anticipated to cause a lasting negative impact on the recreational area, since the area would be restored to pre-Project condition with minor enhancements to the recreational facilities. As evaluated and concluded in this IS/MND, the Project would not have an adverse physical effect on the environment. Therefore, the potential for the Project to include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of recreational facilities that might have an adverse physical effect on the environment during construction or operations would be considered less than significant.

3.16.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.17 TRANSPORTATION

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Conflict with a program plan, ordinance or policy addressing the circulation system, including transit, roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities?			x	
b) Would the project conflict with or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3, subdivision (b)?			х	
c) Substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)?			х	
d) Result in inadequate emergency access?				x

3.17.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Conflict with a program plan, ordinance, or policy addressing the circulation system, including transit, roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Butte County General Plan accounts for regional movement and development throughout their respective planning area. Project construction activities would result in temporary disruption to the existing Enterprise Boat Ramp and Enterprise Road circulation; however, no road closures would occur as a result of the Project. Additionally, construction activities within or adjacent to public roadways would be limited, and workers would follow standard signage and safety practices related to roadway safety, as required by DWR and State standards and regulations. Therefore, the Project would result in a less than significant impact related to conflict with a program, ordinance, or policy addressing the circulation system.

Once operational, the Project would result in an extension of the existing boat ramp and access road and would not result in conflicts with existing plans, ordinances, or policies related to the circulation system in the area. Thus, there would be no operational impact.

b) Would the project conflict with or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3, subdivision (b)?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

In accordance with SB 743 of 2018, CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3 subdivision (b) was adopted in December 2018 by the California Natural Resources Agency. The updated CEQA Guidelines shifts transportation impact analysis from a level of service standard to a vehicle Miles Travelled (VMT) standard. This refers to the amount and distance of automobile travel attributable to a project. Further, this suggests a qualitative analysis to evaluate factors such as the availability of transit and proximity to other destinations for larger construction projects that are not presumed less than significant, and that do not have models or methods available to estimate VMT. From these updated CEQA Guidelines, the Office of Planning and Research (OPR) developed a Technical Advisory on Evaluating Transportation Impacts in CEQA, which contains OPR's technical recommendations regarding assessment of VMT, thresholds of significance, and mitigation measures (OPR 2018). This Technical Advisory includes a screening threshold of small projects, which states that, "...projects that generate or attract fewer than 110 trips per day generally may be assumed to cause a less-than-significant transportation impact" (OPR 2018).

The Project would result in temporary material haul trips and worker trips within the Project area. These truck trips would be limited in duration, confined to the construction period, and consist of a daily quantity averaging about 20 to 25 roundtrip worker and material haul trips per day. These truck trips would be periodic or sporadic over the course of the construction activities depending on the construction activity. These intermittent truck trips would not result in more than 110 vehicle trips per day. Additionally, the Project would not result in any additional permanent vehicle or truck trips beyond what exists under current conditions and, as such, would be consistent with the CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3(b). Therefore, implementation of the Project would also be consistent with the CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3(b), resulting in a less than significant impact.

c) Substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project would not increase hazards due to any proposed design features, nor would it create incompatible uses with the existing traffic operations. However, the movement of construction vehicles, equipment, and materials to and from the Project area has the potential to temporarily increase the risk of slow-moving vehicles or traffic hazards on roads with access to the Project site. The risk would be the highest when construction vehicles and equipment were in operation and may have to interact with general purpose vehicles (e.g., when entering the public right-of-way while exiting the Project site). Enterprise Road is used only for access to and from the existing Enterprise Boat Ramp. Therefore, construction activities within or adjacent to public roadways would be limited, and workers would follow standard signage and safety practices related to roadway safety, as required by DWR and State standards and regulations. Therefore,

construction of the Project would have a less than significant impact related to increases in hazards due to a geometric design feature or incompatible use.

Once constructed, the Project would result in an extension of the existing boat ramp and access road and would not result in incompatible uses or additional hazards beyond what currently exists in the area. Therefore, there would be no operational impact.

d) Result in inadequate emergency access?

Finding: No Impact

The purpose of the Project is to provide additional boating access at Enterprise by extending the existing boat ramp, which in turn would also provide additional access for emergency personnel during drought or low elevation periods at Lake Oroville. Therefore, once constructed, the Project would improve emergency access. Thus, no impact would occur.

3.17.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.18 TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource, defined in Public Resources Code section 21047 as either a site, feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, sacred place, or object with cultural value to a California Native American tribe, and that is:		x		
i) Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources, or in a local register of historical resources as defined in Public Resources Code section 5020.1(k), or		x		
ii) A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public Resources Code Section 5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public Resource Code Section 5024.1, the lead agency shall consider the significance of the resource to a California Native American tribe.		x		

PRC Section 21080.3.1 requires that agencies formally consult with recognized California Native American tribes during the CEQA process to discuss potential impacts on tribal cultural resources. Prior to the release of a Negative Declaration, Mitigated Negative Declaration, or Environmental Impact Report, the agency must initiate consultation with tribes that are traditionally and culturally affiliated with the geographic area of a proposed project if (1) the tribe requested of the agency, in writing, to be informed through formal notification of proposed projects in the geographic area that is traditionally and culturally affiliated with the tribe; and (2) the tribe responds, in writing, within 30 days of receipt of the formal notification of a proposed project and requests consultation with the agency (PRC Section 21080.3.1(b)).

To identify areas within the Project site that may be considered sensitive by local indigenous tribal groups, Stantec, on behalf of DWR, submitted a request to the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) to review its Sacred Lands File (SLF) for the Project site. The NAHC is the official State repository of Native American sacred site location records in California. Stantec received a response on July 20, 2022, from the NAHC, stating that "A record search of the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) Sacred Lands File (SLF) was completed for the information submitted for the

above referenced project. The results were positive." A list of ten tribal contacts was provided with the NAHC response.

In October 2022, DWR sent letters via certified mail to each of the ten contacts from the list provided by NAHC informing them of the Project and formally inviting them to consultation pursuant to PRC Section 21080.3.1(i.e., AB 52). Letters containing details about the Project and a location map were sent to the representatives from the following ten tribal groups:

- Berry Creek Rancheria of Maidu Indians
- Estom Yumeka Maidu Tribe of the Enterprise Rancheria
- Greenville Rancheria of Maidu Indians
- Konkow Valley Band of Maidu
- Mechoopda Indian Tribe of Chico Rancheria
- Mooretown Rancheria of Maidu Indians
- Nevada City Rancheria Nisenan Tribe
- Tsi Akim Maidu
- United Auburn Indian Community of the Auburn Rancheria
- Washoe Tribe of Nevada and California.

DWR received responses from nine of the ten tribes identified on the NAHC contact list. Of those responses, only Estom Yumeka Maidu Tribe of the Enterprise Rancheria requested consultation.

On November 4, 2022, DWR archaeologist and the Estom Yumeka Maidu Tribe of the Enterprise Rancheria Tribal Historic Preservation Officer (THPO) conducted an onsite meeting at the proposed project site. Both parties agreed the current project design avoided known cultural resources; however, due to the proximity of cultural resources in the surrounding area, archaeological and tribal monitoring was reccomended.

On February 8, 2023, DWR held a follow-up meeting with Enterprise Tribal Council and the THPO. The Tribal Council agreed with the THPO's conclusion that the project avoided cultural resources. Enterprise Rancheria requested to have tribal monitors on-site during construction-related ground disturbing activities. DWR agreed to the request and has determined that the consultation process is concluded, pursuant to PRC Section 21080.3.1 (i.e., AB 52) and PRC Section 21084.3.

3.18.1 <u>Environmental Impact Analysis</u>

Would the Project:

a) Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource, defined in Public Resources Code section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, sacred place, or object with cultural value to a California Native American tribe, and that is:

i) Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources, or in a local register of historical resources as defined in Public Resources Code section 5020.1(k), or

ii) A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision
(c) of Public Resources Code Section 5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public Resource Code Section 5024.1, the lead agency shall consider the significance of the resource to a California Native American tribe.

Finding: Less Than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated

No tribal cultural resources were identified during the consultation outreach by DWR; however, as discussed in Section 3.5 *Cultural Resources*, archaeological deposits that qualify as tribal cultural resources could be encountered during Project excavation. Such resources would be eligible for listing in the CRHR or a local register of historical resources, or the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial evidence, could determine the resources to be significant pursuant to the criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of PRC Section 5024.1. Should deposits be encountered during Project excavation, this could result in an adverse change to a tribal cultural resource. Thus, significant impacts related to tribal cultural resources could result from construction of the Project.

Implementation of Mitigation Measures CUL-1 and CUL-2 described in Section 3.5 *Cultural Resources*, and TCR-1 and TCR-2 would ensure that impacts related to any tribal cultural resources that may be uncovered at the Project Site would be less than significant with mitigation through archaeological and tribal monitoring, implementation of cultural resources sensitivity training (including training regarding sensitivity to tribal cultural resources) for all construction crews participating in ground-disturbing activities, and requirements to stop work if archaeological deposits are encountered during ground-disturbing activities.

3.18.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

3.18.2.1 MM TCR-1: Tribal Monitoring

Prior to any Project-related ground disturbance, DWR shall enter into a tribal monitoring agreement with the Estom Yumeka Maidu Tribe of the Enterprise Rancheria. If and archaeological deposit that could qualify as a tribal cultural resource is encountered during Project-related ground disturbance, the tribal monitor and the monitoring archaeologist shall have the authority to stop work in the area (50-foot radius).

Work shall not resume until the tribal monitor in consultation with DWR has:

a) Designated the deposit as an ESA to ensure avoidance. Protective fencing or other markers shall be erected around the ESA prior to any ground disturbing activities. To protect sensitive information and to discourage unauthorized

disturbance or collection of artifacts, the ESA shall only be designated as an ESA, with no signage designating the area as culturally sensitive.

- b) Determined that the archaeological deposit does not meets the definition of a tribal cultural resource (PRC section 21074)
- c) Should the archaeological deposit meet the definition of a tribal cultural resource (PRC section 21074) a treatment plan with appropriate protection and preservation measures will be developed in coordination with and implemented by DWR to mitigate impacts to the resource.

Mitigation Measure TCR-1 Implementation

- **Responsible Party:** DWR
- **Timing:** Prior to and during implementation of Project -related ground disturbance
- **Monitoring and Reporting Program:** DWR cultural resources staff shall maintain a log for all monitoring activity and consultation
- Standards for Success: Protection of tribal cultural resources

3.18.2.2 MM TCR-2: Tribal Cultural Rescources Sensitvity and Awarness Training

Prior to any Project-related ground disturbance, DWR shall ensure that all construction workers involved in ground disturbing activities receive Tribal Cultural Resources Sensitivity and Awareness Training by a representative of the Estom Yumeka Maidu Tribe of the Enterprise Rancheria. Construction staff directly overseeing or engaged in ground disturbing activities must participate in this training. This training shall be provided once to each worker involved in ground-disturbing activities before they begin work and shall be documented in training records submitted to DWR.

Mitigation Measure TCR-2 Implementation

- **Responsible Party:** DWR
- **Timing:** Prior to and during implementation of Project -related ground disturbance
- **Monitoring and Reporting Program:** DWR cultural resources staff shall maintain training records.
- Standards for Success: Protection of tribal cultural resources

3.19 UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water, wastewater treatment, or storm water drainage, electrical power, natural gas, or telecommunications facilities, the construction or relocation of which could cause significant environmental effects?			x	
b) Have sufficient water supply available to serve the project and reasonably foreseeable future development during normal, dry and multiple dry years?			x	
c) Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves or may serve the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project's projected demand in addition to the provider's existing commitments?			x	
d) Generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity of local infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction goals?			х	
e) Comply with federal, state, and local management and reduction statutes and regulations related to solid waste?				x

3.19.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

Would the Project:

a) Require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water, wastewater treatment, or stormwater drainage, electrical power, natural gas, or telecommunications facilities, the construction or relocation of which could cause significant environmental effects?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project would not require the construction of new water facilities, wastewater treatment facilities, stormwater drainage, natural gas, or telecommunications. Additionally, the Project would not require the expansion of existing water facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental effects. Although the

existing restroom in the area would be upgraded as part of the Project, all water and wastewater services required for this restroom would be provided through the existing system and would not require expansion. Any alterations to stormwater drainage patterns during construction would be restored to existing conditions once construction was complete. Therefore, the Project would not result in, nor require the construction of, new water, wastewater, stormwater, electrical power, natural gas, or telecommunications infrastructure. Thus, a less than significant impact would occur.

b) Have sufficient water supply available to serve the project and reasonably foreseeable future development during normal, dry, and multiple dry years?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The restroom facility expansion would not require any additional water supplies, as the restroom is merely being upgraded to meet ADA accessibility requirements, and not increase restroom capacity. Water would continue to be sourced from the existing system in the area. Thus, no additional water entitlements are necessary for construction or operation of the Project. Therefore, there would be a less than significant impact.

c) Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves or may serve the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project's projected demand in addition to the provider's existing commitments?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Similar to question 'b' above, the restroom facility upgrades would not require any additional wastewater supplies and would only be enhanced to meet ADA accessibility requirements. Wastewater services would continue to be supplied by the existing system in the area. Thus, no additional wastewater facilities are necessary for construction or operation of the Project. Therefore, there would be a less than significant impact.

d) Generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity of local infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction goals?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Butte County is required to comply with the California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989, which requires cities and counties throughout the State to divert 50 percent of all solid waste from landfills through reduction, recycling, and composting. This regulation is also supported by local policies contained within the General Plans that encourage recycling efforts (i.e., Butte County General Plan Policy PUB-P11.2) (Butte County 2019).

Existing solid waste management facilities in Butte County consist of the following transfer stations: the Neal Road Recycling and Waste Facility (Neal Road Facility),

which is a large transfer station/materials recovery facility that includes a private wood waste recycler and two municipal wood waste recyclers. According to CalRecycle, the Neal Road Facility has a total remaining capacity of 20,847,970 cubic yards, a daily maximum permitted throughput of 1,500 tons of material per day and is estimated for closure in 2048 (CalRecyle 2023).

Soil excavated during construction would potentially be reused on-site, with a minor amount of unusable material hauled off-site. Additional construction debris could include vegetation from clearing brush and other miscellaneous materials. This solid waste generated from Project construction would not be expected to exceed the daily maximum capacity of the Neal Road Facility. Further, once construction has been completed, no additional solid waste would be generated by the Project. Therefore, there would be a less than significant impact.

e) Comply with federal, state, and local management and reduction statutes and regulations related to solid waste?

Finding: No Impact

As discussed under item 'd' above, the Project would not result in substantial amounts of solid waste during construction or operation that would exceed the daily maximum capacity of the Neal Road Facility. Therefore, the Project would comply with CALGreen, which requires the diversion of 65 percent of construction material waste from landfills. Therefore, the Project would not conflict with federal, State, or local management and reduction statutes related to solid waste. Thus, there would be no impact.

3.19.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.20 WILDFIRE

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
If located in or near state responsibility areas or lands classified as very high fire hazard severity zones, would the project:				
a) Substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan?			x	
b) Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby expose project occupants to pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire?			x	
c) Require the installation or maintenance of associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, emergency water sources, power lines or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment?			x	
d) Expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream flooding or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes?			x	

3.20.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

If located in or near State responsibility areas or lands classified as very high fire hazard severity zones, would the project:

a) Substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project and its adjacent areas are located within a State Responsibility Area that is designated with a moderate and very high fire hazard severity (CAL FIRE 2023). State Responsibility Areas include zones where the State is financially responsible for wildland fire protection (i.e., CAL FIRE). DWR has prepared Emergency Action Plans for several critical Oroville Field Division facilities that outline emergency response procedures during varying levels of incidents, including wildfire-related incidents.

Project construction would involve the use of construction equipment that could cause the unintentional release of sparks or heat from equipment into nearby flammable material (e.g., brush or grass), which could lead to ignition; thus, impairing emergency response plans or evacuation plans. However, all Project construction activities would be constructed in compliance with applicable local, State, and federal requirements, including the California Fire Code and DWR standards and procedures for fire protection. These standards and procedures limit the potential for construction equipment to spark a wildland or urban fire by requiring the implementation of appropriate fire protection systems, means of adequate ingress and egress of construction equipment and personnel, and use of fire-resistive construction equipment. Additionally, the majority of Project construction activities would occur within existing and previously disturbed areas where groundcover vegetation is minimal and less prone to flammability. This would limit the potential for Project construction activities to impair emergency response plans or evacuation plans. Therefore, construction of the Project would have a less than significant impact related to wildland fires.

Once operational (i.e., post-construction), the Project would not involve any activities that would impair adopted emergency response plans or emergency evacuation plans. Additionally, the improved boating access at Enterprise would provide increased access for emergency personnel during drought or low elevation periods at Lake Oroville. Therefore, once constructed, the Project would improve upon emergency access. Thus, no operational impact would occur.

b) Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby expose project occupants to pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The Project site is located within the existing Oroville Facilities Enterprise Recreation Area, and there are no residential units in or adjacent to the Project. Further, the Project would not result in a population increase in the area. Although the new picnic area and boat ramp would allow for increased capacity of recreational users, recreational uses would be consistent with the existing use of the area and would occur within the existing footprint. Thus, the Project would not exacerbate wildfire risks. Therefore, construction and operation of the Project would have a less than significant impact.

c) Require the installation or maintenance of associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, emergency water sources, power lines or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

As discussed under question 'a' above, Project construction would be in compliance with applicable local, State, and federal requirements related to fire safety and would be confined to the duration of construction activities. Once constructed, the Project would result in an extension of the existing recreational facilities in the area and would not result in additional impacts that could exacerbate fire risk. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant.

d) Expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream flooding or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

There are no residential units or structures intended for human habitation in or adjacent to the Project area. Construction would occur within the existing footprint of the area and would not result in additional impacts related to downstream flooding or landslides, runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant.

3.20.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

None required.

3.21 MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Would the Project:	Potentially Significant Impact	Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated	Less Than Significant Impact	No Impact
a) Does the project have the potential to degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal, or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory?			X	
b) Does the project have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulative considerable? ("Cumulative considerable" means that the incremental impacts of a project are considerable when viewed in connection with the impacts of past projects, the impacts of other current projects, and the effects of probable future Projects)?			X	
c) Does the project have environmental impacts which will cause substantial adverse impacts on human beings, either directly or indirectly?			х	

3.21.1 Environmental Impact Analysis

a) Does the project have the potential to degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal, or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

Project-related activities that could potentially degrade the quality of the surrounding environment were assessed for environmental degradation in Chapter 3.0 (Environmental Evaluation). Given the analysis outlined in this IS/MND and based on the aforementioned Mitigation Measures to be implemented on an as-needed basis, the potential for environmental harm (including impacts on biological resources and cultural resources), was determined to be less than significant. Project-related activities would not include new mechanisms that would reasonably degrade the quality of the existing environment, substantially reduce existing habitat for fish or wildlife species, cause an existing fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, or threaten to eliminate an existing plant or animal community. Furthermore, as discussed in Section 3.4 (Biological Resources), Project activities would not reduce the number of, or restrict the range of, existing rare or endangered plant or animal species. No removal or encroachment of existing habitats beyond what currently exists at the Project location would be anticipated as a result of the Project.

As discussed in Section 3.5 (Cultural Resources), important historic and archaeological resources have been identified and it is feasible that additional artifacts could be located within the FERC Project No. 2100 boundary during sub-surface work. However, Project activities would include both limited construction and ground disturbance and would primarily occur within previously disturbed areas. Furthermore, as outlined in the Mitigation Measures for cultural resources, resources would be avoided and, therefore, examples of the major periods of California history and prehistory would be preserved.

As a result, with the implementation of the Mitigation Measures described in Sections 3.4 (Biological Resources) and 3.5 (Cultural Resources), Project-related activities would not have the potential to degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal, or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history and prehistory. As such, with application of the aforementioned Mitigation Measures, the impacts would be reduced to a less-than-significant level.

b) Does the project have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulative considerable? ("Cumulative considerable" means that the incremental impacts of a project are considerable when viewed in connection with the impacts of past projects, the impacts of other current projects, and the effects of probable future Projects)?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

A cumulative impact could occur if a project would result in an incrementally considerable contribution to a significant cumulative impact when factoring in past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future projects for each resource area.

Past, present, and reasonably foreseeable projects in the geographic and temporal scope of this Project include the DWR Spillways Incident, a recent DWR fiber optic cable upgrade project, a DWR routine maintenance activities project, a DWR emergency bridge replacement on Craig Road as a result of fire damage, and future community-building projects in the City of Oroville (City of Oroville 2020). These projects were localized in nature; any future projects would be as well. The projects would be required to comply with all federal, State, and local laws as they pertain to their relative jurisdictions. The DWR projects listed above are non-routine repairs (i.e., not captured

within the existing FERC license) or significant upgrades to existing facilities and, thus, were covered under their own respective CEQA processes. Additionally, emergency projects, such as the Spillways Incident, are considered exempt from CEQA under PRC Section 5269.

If the potential impacts of projects (such as localized, permanent impacts to waters of the United States or riparian areas) are analyzed in conjunction with the repeated, yet temporary impacts resulting from the Project (i.e., routine maintenance activities on existing facilities), the impact determinations in this document would not change. This is because maintaining an upgraded or restored structure is essentially the operation of that structure. As such, it is not a new or additional impact beyond what was contemplated during the upgrade process. Additionally, maintenance activities involving the need to upgrade or repair existing Oroville Facilities would occur regardless of the Project. Therefore, when examined from a cumulative perspective, the Project is not anticipated to expand the existing footprint.

In this IS/MND, no direct, significant impacts were identified for the Project that could not be mitigated to a less-than-significant level. Additionally, when considering the Project in relation to other projects within the vicinity, it is not anticipated that Project activities would result in a contribution to any potentially significant cumulative impacts associated with these projects for the following reasons:

- Project activities would have no impact on agriculture and forestry resources, mineral resources, and population and housing.
- Project activities would have a less than significant impact on aesthetics, air quality, energy, greenhouse gas emissions, hazards and hazardous materials, land use and planning, noise, public services, recreation, transportation, utilities and service systems, and wildfire.
- When considered with past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future projects, the overlapping geographic scope of these resources is limited, and Project activities would not have a considerable contribution to a cumulative impact. As a result, cumulative impacts related to these resources would be very minor.
- Biological resources, cultural resources, geology and soils, hydrology and water quality, and tribal cultural resources impacts that could be generated by Project activities would be temporary and limited to the construction period (five months). Work crews and construction layouts would be relatively small and would include very few additional trips by construction workers traveling to the site. Project activities would be short in duration; would occur on mostly previously disturbed, developed, or paved areas; and would consist of relatively minor construction and upgrades. These impacts could be compounded if construction were to occur simultaneously or in a similar general area as the past, present, and reasonably foreseeable projects. However, the limited nature of construction activities required to complete the Project would not considerably contribute to any potential cumulative impacts.

As a result, potential impacts from Project activities, when combined with these cumulative projects, would not result in a cumulatively considerable impact. Therefore, cumulative impacts would be less than significant.

c) Does the project have environmental impacts which will cause substantial adverse impacts on human beings, either directly or indirectly?

Finding: Less Than Significant Impact

The potential impacts of Project activities would be temporary, short-term, and sitespecific. These impacts would be located at specific locations within the FERC Project No. 2100 boundary and would include limited adverse effects on biological, cultural, geological, hydrological, and tribal cultural resources. However, Project activities would comply with hazardous materials management regulations (refer to Section 3.8 [Hazards and Hazardous Materials]). These regulations include spill prevention and countermeasure planning where applicable (refer to Section 3.6 [Geology and Soils], and Section 3.9 [Hydrology and Water Quality]). Project activities would not include blasting or the use of loud equipment without proper protections (refer to Section 3.13 [Noise]); and they would include proper fire prevention and countermeasure preparedness (refer to Section 3.20 [Wildfire]). Therefore, the Project would not include any activities or uses that may cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly. Compliance with applicable local, State, and federal standards, as well as incorporation of Project Mitigation Measures as assessed throughout Chapter 3.0, would result in less than significant impacts.

3.21.2 <u>Mitigation Measures</u>

Refer to Mitigation Measures in Section 3.4 (Biological Resources), Section 3.5 (Cultural Resources), Section 3.7 (Geology and Soils), and Section 3.18 (Tribal Cultural Resources) for detailed descriptions of each Mitigation Measure.

The Mitigation Measures included in this IS/MND are listed below.

- MM BIO-1: Pre-Construction Nesting Bird Surveys and Pre-Construction Environmental Awareness Training
- MM BIO-2: Water Quality Protections and Compensation for Direct Impacts to Waters of the U.S.
- MM CUL-1: Cultural Resources Monitoring
- MM CUL-2: Conduct Cultural Resource Awareness and Sensitivity Training
- MM GEO-1: Sedimentation and Erosion Control Measures
- MM TCR-1: Tribal Monitoring
- MM TCR-2: Tribal Cultural Resource Sensitivity and Awareness Training

This page intentionally left blank.

4.0 LIST OF PREPARERS

The persons below were principally responsible for preparation of this Draft IS/MND.

4.1 CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES RESOURCE SPECIALISTS

Name	Title
Andrew Bambauer	Senior Water Resources Engineer, Supervisor
Cassandra Evensor	n Senior Environmental Scientist, Supervisor
Keegan Goff	Water Resources Engineer
Robin Carter-Ervin	Environmental Scientist
Rylan Thomas	Senior Environmental Scientist, Archaeologist

4.2 STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES INC RESOURCE SPECIALISTS

Bernadette Bezy	Senior Principal, Regulatory Specialist, Biologist
Bryan Rorie	Tasl Order Manager
Earl Nelson	Senior Technical Reviewer
Emily Eppinger	Wildlife Biologist
Erin Sherlock	Senior Archaeologist
Jenna Santy	Archaeologist
Lora Holland	Archaeology Technical Reviewer
Indya Messier	Project Environmental Scientist
Jessica Jarvis	GIS Analyst
Kaitlyn Heck	Air Quality Specialist
Kate Gray	Senior Environmental Scientist
Lauren Eber	Senior Scientist, Technical Editor
Meghan Oats	Associate Biologist
Sylvia Langford	Document Accessibility Specialist
Zoryana Pope	Environmental Planner

This page intentionally left blank.

5.0 REFERENCES CITED

5.1 REFERENCES CITED – SECTION 1.0 INTRODUCTION

None.

5.2 REFERENCES CITED – SECTION 2.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION

None.

5.3 REFERENCES CITED – SECTION 3.0 ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST AND ENVIRONMENTAL EVALUATION

5.3.1 <u>References Cited – Section 3.1 Aesthetics</u>

Butte County. 2019. 2030 General Plan. Page 4-23. Available online at: <u>https://www.buttecounty.net/Portals/10/Planning/ButteCountyGeneralPlan2030</u> <u>May2018red.pdf?ver=2019-12-18-141822-357</u>. Accessed February 2, 2023.

California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 2021. California State Scenic Highway System Map. Available at: <u>https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=465dfd3d80</u> <u>7c46cc8e8057116f1aacaa</u>. Accessed February 2, 2023.

5.3.2 <u>References Cited – Section 3.2 Agriculture and Forestry Resources</u>

Butte County, California (Butte County). 2023. Development Services Parcel Look-Up. Available at: <u>http://gis.buttecounty.net/Public/index.html?viewer=dssearch</u>. Accessed: February 3, 2023.

. 2015. Williamson Act Parcels. Available at: <u>https://www.buttecounty.net/Portals/10/Planning/SFS/CLCA_Map_2015.pdf</u>. Accessed: February 3, 2023.

California Department of Conservation (DOC). 2023a. Important Farmland Mapping Categories and Soil Taxonomy Terms. Available at: <u>https://www.conservation.ca.gov/dlrp/fmmp/documents/soil_criteria.pdf</u>. Accessed: February 3, 2023.

__. 2023b. California Important Farmland Finder. Available at: <u>https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/DLRP/CIFF/</u>. Accessed: February 3, 2023.

5.3.3 <u>References Cited – Section 3.3 Air Quality</u>

Butte County Air Quality Management District. 2014. CEQA Air Quality Handbook. Available online at: <u>https://bcaqmd.org/wp-content/uploads/CEQA-Handbook-Appendices-2014.pdf</u>. Accessed January 11, 2023.

- Butte County Air Quality Management District. 2018. Air Quality Standards & Air Pollutants. Available online at: <u>https://bcaqmd.org/planning/air-quality-standards-air-pollutants/</u>. Accessed January 24, 2023.
- Butte County. 2019. 2030 General Plan. Page 4-23. Available online at: <u>https://www.buttecounty.net/Portals/10/Planning/ButteCountyGeneralPlan2030</u> <u>May2018red.pdf?ver=2019-12-18-141822-357</u>. Accessed January 11, 2023.
- United Stated Environmental Protection Agency. 2022. What Are Sensitive Receptors? Available online at: <u>https://www3.epa.gov/region1/eco/uep/sensitivereceptors.html</u>. Accessed January 11, 2023.

5.3.4 <u>References Cited – Section 3.4 Biological Resources</u>

- Butte County Association of Governments. 2019. Butte Regional Conservation Plan. Available at: <u>http://www.buttehcp.com/BRCP-Documents/Final-BRCP/index.html</u>. Accessed: February 2023.
- California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW). 2023. California Essential Habitat Connectivity Project: A Strategy for Conserving a Connected California. Available at: <u>https://wildlife.ca.gov/conservation/planning/connectivity/CEHC</u>. Accessed February 2023.
- _____. 2022. California Department of Fish and Wildlife. California Natural Diversity Database Rarefind 5 Online Database 5.2.14. Available at: <u>https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB/Maps-and-Data</u>. Accessed February 2023.
- California Native Plant Society (CNPS). 2022. Inventory of Rare and Endangered Plants for special status plants documented within the *Oroville Dam* and *Forbestown, California* 7.5-minute U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) quadrangles. Available at: <u>https://www.rareplants.cnps.org</u>. Accessed February 2023.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2023. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. National Wildlife Refuge System. Wildlife Corridors. Available at: https://www.fws.gov/refuges/features/wildlife-corridors.html. Accessed February 2023.
- . 2022. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC) Trust Resource Report. USFWS Environmental Conservation Online System (ECOS). Available at: <u>https://ecos.fws.gov/ipac</u>. Accessed February 2023.

5.3.5 <u>References Cited – Section 3.5 Cultural Resources</u>

- Elsasser, A.B. 1978. Development of Regional Prehistoric Cultures. Pp 37-57 in Handbook of North American Indians, California Volume 8. Robert F. Heizer, ed. Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C.Golla, V. 2007. Linguistic Prehistory. In California Prehistory: Colonization, Culture, and Complexity, pp. 71-82. Edited by Terry L. Jones and Kathryn A. Klar, AltaMira Press, Lanham.
- Golla, V. 2007. Linguistic Prehistory. In *California Prehistory: Colonization, Culture, and Complexity*, pp. 71-82. Edited by Terry L. Jones and Kathryn A. Klar, AltaMira Press, Lanham.
- Kowta, M. 1988. The Archaeology and Prehistory of Plumas and Butte Counties, California: An Introduction and Interpretive Model. California Archaeological Site Inventory, Northeast Information Center, Department of Anthropology, California State University Chico, California.
- McCarthy and Scotten. 2009. Ethnographic and Ethnohistoric Inventory of Konkow Maidu Cultural Places: Oroville Facilities Relicensing FERC Project No. 2100. Far Western Anthropological Research Group, Inc., Davis, California. Prepared for California Department of Water Resources, Sacramento.
- Olsen, WHY. and F.A. Riddell. 1963. The Archaeology of the Western Pacific Railroad Relocation Project, Butte County, California. State Division of Beaches and Parks. Archaeological Project 7, Sacramento, California.Riddell, F. A. 1978.
 Maidu and Konkow. In Handbook of North American Indians, Vol. 8, California, pp. 370-386. Edited by William C. Sturtevant, Smithsonian Institution, Washington.
- Ritter, E. W. 1970. Northern Sierra Foothill Archaeology: Culture History and Culture Process. University of California, Center for Archaeological Research at Davis, Publications 2: 171-184.
- _____. 1968. Culture History of the Tie Wiah (4-But-84), Oroville Locality, California. Unpublished Master's Thesis Department of Anthropology, University of California Davis, California.
- Riddell, F. A. 1978. Maidu and Konkow. In *Handbook of North American Indians*, Vol. 8, California, pp. 370-386. Edited by William C. Sturtevant, Smithsonian Institution, Washington.
- Selverston, M. D., M. J. Markwyn, M. Walker, M. G. Delacorte, and M. Basgall. 2005. Archaeological and Historical Resource Inventory Report. Oroville Facilities Relicensing, FERC Project No. 2100. Prepared for the California Department of Water Resources by Archaeological Studies Center, Sonoma State University, Rohnert Park, and Archaeological Research Center, California State University, Sacramento.

 Walker, Mark K., and M. G. Delacorte. 2015. Supplemental Archaeological and Historical Resources Inventory Report, Oroville Facilities Relicensing FERC Project No. 2100. Anthropological Studies Center, Sonoma State University, Rohnert Park, California. Prepared for the California Department of Water Resources, Sacramento.References Cited – Section 3.6 Energy

5.3.6 <u>References Cited – Section 3.7 Geology and Soils</u>

Bryant, W.A. and Hart, E.W. 2007. Fault-Rupture Hazard Zones in California. Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act with Index to Earthquake Fault Zones Maps. Department of Conservation California Geological Survey. Special Publication 42 Interim Revision 2007. Available at: <u>https://www.contracosta.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/34150/Hart-2007-SP-42-AP-Zones-PDF?bidId=</u>. Accessed: February 2023.

Butte County, California (Butte County). 2019. Butte County General Plan 2030. Available at: <u>https://www.buttecounty.net/Portals/10/Planning/ButteCountyGeneralPlan2030</u> <u>May2018red.pdf?ver=2019-12-18-141822-357</u>. Accessed: February 2023.

- California Department of Conservation (DOC). 2023. Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zones. Available at: <u>https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/alquist-priolo</u>. Accessed: February 2023.
- California Department of Water Resources (DWR). 2007. Draft Environmental Impact Report, Oroville Facilities Relicensing—FERC Project No 2100. Available at: <u>https://cadwr.app.box.com/s/hy6iccr92gcxdyotaqfgg3r3zd66fe9b/folder/1648210</u> <u>58644</u>. Accessed February 2023.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2022. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES). Available at: <u>https://www.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater-discharges-construction-activities</u>. Accessed: February 2023.
- Toppozada, T. R. and Morrison, P.W. 1982. Earthquake and Lake Levels at Oroville, California. California Geology, June 1982, Vol.35, No. 6. Available at: <u>http://www.johnmartin.com/earthquakes/eqpapers/00000052.htm</u>. Accessed: February 2023.
- U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). 2019. Land Subsidence. Available at: <u>https://www.usgs.gov/mission-areas/water-resources/science/land-</u> <u>subsidence?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects</u>. Accessed: February 2023.
 - ____. 2017. What is Liquefaction? Available at: <u>https://www.usgs.gov/faqs/what-liquefaction?qt-news_science_products=0#qt-news_science_products</u>. Accessed: February 2023.

5.3.7 <u>References Cited – Section 3.8 Greenhouse Gas Emissions</u>

Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District. 2021. Greenhouse Gas Emissions. Available online at: <u>https://www.airquality.org/LandUseTransportation/Documents/Ch6GHG2-26-</u> 2021.pdf. Accessed January 24, 2023.

Butte County. 2014. Climate Action Plan. Available online at: <u>https://www.buttecounty.net/Portals/10/Docs/CAP/ButteCountyCAPAdopted2014</u> <u>-02-25.pdf?ver=2014-04-25-152241-733</u>. Accessed January 24, 2023.

Butte County. 2019. General Plan. Available online at: <u>https://www.buttecounty.net/Portals/10/Planning/ButteCountyGeneralPlan2030</u> <u>May2018red.pdf?ver=2019-12-18-141822-357</u>. Accessed January 24, 2023.

California Air Resources Board. 2017. Climate Change Scoping Plan. Available online at: <u>https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/classic/cc/scopingplan/scoping_plan_20</u> 17.pdf. Accessed January 24, 2023.

5.3.8 <u>References Cited – Section 3.9 Hazards and Hazardous Materials</u>

- Butte County. 2021. Butte County Community Wildfire Protection Plan 2021-2025. Available online at: <u>https://buttefiresafe.net/document-library/butte-county-community-wildfire-protection-plan-cwpp-2021-2025/</u>. Accessed January 13, 2023.
- CAL FIRE. 2022. Butte County State Responsibility Area Fire Hazard Severity Zone. Available online at: <u>https://osfm.fire.ca.gov/media/00bbw3f3/fhsz_county_sra_11x17_2022_butte_ad</u> <u>a.pdf</u>. Accessed January 13, 2013.
- Department of Toxic Substances Control. 2023. EnviroStore. Available online at: <u>https://www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/map/?myaddress=Forbesville%2C+Cali</u> <u>fornia</u>. Accessed January 13, 2023.

5.3.9 <u>References Cited – Section 3.10 Hydrology and Water Quality</u>

- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2023. FEMA Flood Map Service Center. Available at: <u>https://msc.fema.gov/portal/home</u>. Accessed: February 3, 2023.
- Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board (Central Valley RWQCB). 2018. Water Quality Control Plan (Basin Plan). Available at: <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralvalley/water_issues/basin_plans/sacsjr_2</u> <u>01805.pdf</u>. Accessed: February 3, 2023.

5.3.10 <u>References Cited – Section 3.11 Land Use and Planning</u>

Butte County. 2023. Development Services Information – Parcel Look Up. Available online at:

https://gisportal.buttecounty.net/portal/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=e8ee08 e0672d48c8862fd3233e394027. Accessed January 23, 2023.

Butte County. 2019. 2030 General Plan. Land Use Element. Available online at: <u>https://www.buttecounty.net/Portals/10/Planning/ButteCountyGeneralPlan2030</u> <u>May2018red.pdf?ver=2019-12-18-141822-357</u>. Accessed January 23, 2023.

5.3.11 <u>References Cited – Section 3.12 Mineral Resources</u>

- California Department of Conservation (CDC). 2023. Available online at: <u>https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/informationwarehouse/mlc/</u>. Accessed February 10, 2023.
- Butte County. 2019. 2030 General Plan. Public Facilities and Services Element. Available online at: <u>https://www.buttecounty.net/Portals/10/Planning/ButteCountyGeneralPlan2030</u> <u>May2018red.pdf?ver=2019-12-18-141822-357</u>. Accessed January 11, 2023.

5.3.12 References Cited – Section 3.13 Noise

Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). 2017. Highway Traffic Analysis and Abatement Policy and Guidance. Available at: <u>https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environMent/noise/regulations_and_guidance/polguide/polguide04.cfm</u>. Accessed February 16, 2023.

Federal Transit Administration (FTA). 2018. Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual. Available at: <u>https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/research-</u> <u>innovation/118131/transit-noise-and-vibration-impact-assessment-manual-fta-</u> <u>report-no-0123_0.pdf</u>. Accessed February 16, 2023.

5.3.13 <u>References Cited – Section 3.14 Population and Housing</u>

None.

5.3.14 <u>References Cited – Section 3.15 Public Services</u>

Butte County. 2019. 2030 General Plan. Page 4-23. Available online at: <u>https://www.buttecounty.net/Portals/10/Planning/ButteCountyGeneralPlan2030</u> <u>May2018red.pdf?ver=2019-12-18-141822-357</u>. Accessed January 11, 2023.

5.3.15 <u>References Cited – Section 3.16 Recreation</u>

None.

5.3.16 <u>References Cited – Section 3.17 Transporation</u>

Office of Planning and Research (OPR). 2018. Technical Advisory on Evaluating Transportation Impacts in CEQA. Available online at: <u>https://opr.ca.gov/docs/20180416-743 Technical Advisory 4.16.18.pdf</u>. Accessed January 23, 2023.

5.3.17 <u>References Cited – Section 3.18 Tribal Cultural Resources</u>

None.

5.3.18 <u>References Cited – Section 3.19 Utilities and Service Systems</u>

CalRecycle. 2023. SWIS Facility/Site Activity Details - Neal Road Recycling and Waste Facility (04-AA-0002). Available online at: <u>https://www2.calrecycle.ca.gov/SolidWaste/SiteActivity/Details/110?siteID=108</u>. Accessed January 31, 2023.

Butte County. 2019. 2030 General Plan. Public Facilities and Services Element. Available online at: <u>https://www.buttecounty.net/Portals/10/Planning/ButteCountyGeneralPlan2030</u> <u>May2018red.pdf?ver=2019-12-18-141822-357</u>. Accessed January 31, 2023.

5.3.19 <u>References Cited – Section 3.20 Wildfire</u>

Califoirnia Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE). 2023. Fire Hazard Severity Zone Viewer. Avaiable online at: <u>https://egis.fire.ca.gov/FHSZ/</u>. Accessed January 25, 2023.

5.3.20 <u>References Cited – Section 3.21 Mandatory Findings of Significance</u>

City of Oroville. 2020. Development Map. Available at: <u>https://www.cityoforoville.org/services/planning-development-services-</u> <u>department/planning-division/planning-projects</u>. Accessed February 16, 2023. This page intentionally left blank.